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EXE CU[1VE 
CHA[R MAN' S MES SAGE 

2009/2010 has been a challenging year for the textile industry 

as evidenced by a noticeable reduction in the number of 

players, most especially those that were small or medium 

sized. The industry has been adversely affected by the 

triple crush of: sharply lower trade and bank facilities; record 

cotton and yarn prices; and massive change in retail orders 

towards smaller quantities and faster turnarounds. The sharp 

reduction in trade and bank facilities resulted in raw material 

buying and inventory stocking constraints. I hese in turn 

constrained the industry's ability to capitalize more lully on 

the upturn in consumer demand. The sharp rise in cotton 

prices, which closed at US 108.2 cents/lb in October 2010 (up 

from the US 38.5 cent/lb low recorded in March 2009 and the 

highest since before 1981) on the back of a series of natural 

disasters which reduced cotton output, is testing given the 

still weak global demand, and is a threat to industry margins. 

Retailers are placing smaller initial orders in order to try to 

clear inventory within 45 days. In the event that the order is 

a 'hit' a series of follow on orders is then rapidly given. Such 

an ordering pattern whilst understandable adversely impacts 

the industry's economy of scale. The resultant demand peaks 

and troughs play havoc with capacity utilization rates. 

Despite pricing and banking pressures, GLG was able to keep 

turnover from slipping. 

GLG was able to marginally improve margins. GLG is especially 

proud of having done so despite the very sharp rises in cotton 

prices and the changing ordering pattern of retailers. GLG did 

so through natural hedging, with alternative offerings Irorri 

our development and designs team and by concentrating on 

lowering selling and distribution expenses. 

GLG achieved a net profit of US$7.92M, up 285% y-o-y. Whilst 

part of this growth came from a onetime write-back of 

US$2.5M for an impairment charge taken a year before, the 

profit excluding the onetime write-back is still commendable. 

FY 2009/2010 was a year of consolidation with the focus 

being on operational efficiencies, design & quality initiatives 

and working ever more closely with key partnerships across 

the supply chain. 

Equity increased to US535.077M mainly as a result of the 

profits achieved. 

GLG views the future with determination. FY2010/201 1 

shows the company's potential to ride through dillicult 

times. However, we wish to do more than just survive, We 

seek to thrive even in challenging conditions. We believe 

we can do so with our comprehensive supply chain service 

providing end to end value. More specifically we aim to be 

faster and leaner thereby being more able to cope with the 

shorter ordering cycles of clients. We aim to provide more 

intelligent designs that allow us to capitalize on economies 

of scale. We aim to be closer to clients and thus be more 

responsive. We aim to help our clients make good money 

and in this way make good money ourselves. 

But we would not be here if it were not for supporters. I 

would therefore like to express my sincere gratitude to our 

shareholders, customers, banks, Board of Directors, partners, 

suppliers and business associates who have supported the 

company though the last two challenging years. But above 

all I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to all our 

employees whose teamwork, dedication and commitment 

have been crucial to our achievements. 

We will remain determinedly committed. 

Estina Ang Suan Hong 

Executive Chairman 
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 

The Board of Directors of GLG Corp Ltd ("GLG" or "the Company") are responsible for the Corporate Governance of 

the consolidated entity. The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of GLG Corp Ltd on behalf of the 

shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 

The composition of the Board is determined in accordance with the following principles and guidelines: 

the Board shou d comprise Directors with an appropriate range of qualifications and expertise; and 

the Board shall meet at least every second month and follow guidelines set down to ensure all Directors are made 

aware of, and have available, all necessary information to participate in an informed discussion of all agenda items. 

THE DIRECTORS IN OFFICE AT THE DATE OF THIS STATEMENT ARE AS FOLLOWS: 

Name 	 Position 

Estina Ang Suan Hong 	 Execurive Chairman ond Chief Execurive Officer 

Samuel Scott Weiss 	 Non-executive Depury Choirman ond Lead Independent Director 

Yong Yin Min 	 Director 

Surina Gan Meng Hul 	 Director (appointed on 1/January2010) 

Christopher Chong Meng Tak 	 lndependenrDirecror 

Ernest Seow Teng Peng 	 lndependenr Director 

Eu Mu n Leong 	 Director and Chief Financial Officer (resigned effecrive 11 January2010) 

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of Director as well as the period of office held by each 

director are set out in the Directors' Report on page 13 to 29. 

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES 

As the Board acts on behalf of the shareholders and is accountable to the shareholders, the Board seeks to identify 

the expectations of the shareholders as well as other regulatory and ethical expectatons and obligations. In addition, 

the Board is responsible for identfying areas of significant business risk and ensuring arrangements are in place to 

adequately manage those risks. The Board, through the Audit Committee, receives reports from management on an 

on gong basis as to the material risks associated with the company's operations and the recommended risk mitigation 

process that they undertake. The Board has established a Code of Conduct which in summary, requires that at all times 

Directors and employees act with the integrity, objectivity and in compliance with the letter and spirit of the law and 

Company policies. GLG has established a wrtten po icy designed to ensure Compliance with ASX listing rule disclosure 

and accountability as Senior Executive level for complance. 

Under the guidance of the ASX's Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendatons (2nd edtion), the Board has 

established a Nomination and Remuneration Committee and an Audit Committee. The names of members of each 

Committee and their attendance at meetings are contaned on page 20 of the Annual Report. 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has established a polcy prohibting transactions in associated products 

which limt the economic risk of participating in unvested entit ements under equity-based remuneration scheme. 

A copy of the Company's Code of Conduct, Audit Committee Charter, Remuneration Committee Charter and the terms 

and conditions of the continuous disclosure and shareholder communication polcy is made publically available on the 

Company's website. 

rL NN 	 10 J 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

GLG adopts the 2nd edition principles and recommendations put forward by the ASX Corporate Governance Council 

("ASXCGC"). In accordance with the ASXCGC's recommendations, the Corporate Governance Statement must report on 

the Company's adoption of the ASXCGC's principles and recommendations on an exception basis; whereby disclosure 

is required of any recommendations that have not been adopted, together with the reasons why they have not been 

adopted. GLG Corp Ltd's Corporate Governance principles and policies are structured with refererìce to the ASXCGC's 

Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd edition), which are as follows: 

Lay solid foundations for management and oversight; 

Structure the Board to add value; 

(iH) 	Promote ethical and responsible decision making; 

Safeguard integrity in financial reporting; 

Make timely and balanced disclosures; 

NO Respect the rights of shareholders; 

 Recognise and manage risk; and 

 Remunerate fairly and responsibly. 

GLG Corp Ltd's Corporate Governance practices were in place throughout the period ended 30 June 2010. As set out 

below, with the exception of the departures from the ASXCGC's principles and recommendations in relation to the 

independence of the Board and Chairperson, the roles of Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer being performed 

by separate people and Board performance evaluation, the Corporate Governance practices of GLG Corp Ltd were 

compliant with the Council's Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. 

As required under the ASXCGC's principles and recommendations and section 295 of the Corporations Act, the Board 

can confirm that it has received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and Acting Chief Financial Officer that the 

declaration contained on page 33 of the Annual Report is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 

control and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

INDEPENDENCE OF BOARD MEMBERS 

ASXCGC best practice recommendation 2.1 requires a majority of the Board to be Independent Directors, 2.2 recommends 

the Chairperson shoLild be an independent director and 2.3 requires the roles of Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer 

should not be exercised by the same individual. 

ASXCGC provides a definition of independence to include not being a member of management and someone who is 

free of any other business or other relationships that could materially interfere with - or could reasonably be perceived 

to materially interfere with - the independent exercise of their judgment. In accordance with this definition and further 

independence guidelines outlined in ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, three of the six 

Directors were not considered to be independent. The ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 

require the materiality threshold that was used to determine whether a Director is independent to be disclosed. 

Notwithstanding there are no contracts outside those disclosed in the Annual Report, a level of materiality of 5% of 

the independent Directors' annual income has been set for any non-remuneration based consulting or other financial 

arrangements. 
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The Board acknowledges the best practice requirement to maintain a majorty of Independent Directors on the Board. In 

assessing the makeup of the Board, OLD aims for its Directors to be independent in thought and judgement, as well as 

expecting the Directors to add va ue. OLD operates in an entrepreneural environment, and both requires and benefits 

from the passonate involvement of Directors who have been instrumental in launching the Company and the business, 

and who have specalised knowledge of, and expertise in, ths business sector. 

As part ofdischargng its oh igations as Directors of the Company, the Company encourages directors to seek independent 

professional advice at the expense of the Company where appropriate. Where issues or matters arise in relaton to the 

running of the Company, that in the opnion of the Directors require independent professional advice to assist in the 

decison making surrounding the resolution of these issues, the Board may engage such professional advice on standard 

commercial terms. 

The ASXCGC recommends that the Chairperson should be an Independent Director. The Chairperson of OLD, Estina Ang 

Suan Hong, the founder of the business, is integral in maintaining the business and important customer and banking 

relationships and carries out a strategc executive role. OLD has appointed a lead Independent Director, whch is 

recommended by the ASXCGC where the Chairperson is not an Independent Director. The role of the lead Independent 

Director is to act as a representative for any collectve views of the Non-Executive Directors, to ensure that the voces 

of the Non-Executive Directors carry significant weight in the Board's decision making process, and to ensure that the 

Board uncerstands and maintains oounoares between the Board and management responsibiIities. 

The ASXCGC a so recommends that the role of Chair and CEO should not be exercised by the same individual. As stated 

above, the Chairperson and CEO of OLD, Estina Ang Suan Hong, the founder of the business, is integral in maintaining 

the business and important customer and banking relationships and carries out a strategic executive role as both Chair 

and CEO of the Company. 

The Company's Corporate Governance practices and polcies in relaton to Nominaton Committee Charter, which 

out ines the Company's policy for nomination and appointment of Directors are publcally available on the Company's 

website. 

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 

ASXCGC best practice recommendation 2.5 requires the disclosure of the process for performance evaluation of the 

Board, its Committees and individual Directors. The Company has devised a process for the evaluation of the Board, its 

Committees and and individual Directors however due to difficu t trading conditions throughout the year the Company 

priororitised all resources to the operating business. As a result the Company dd not implement the evaluation process 

but aims to do so during this current financial year. The Directors do consider and gauge the overall performance of the 

Board and Committees during the course of the financial year. 

Performance evaluation of Senior Executives occurred during the financial year and was in accordance with the process 

that is disc osed in the Company's Corporate Governance P an. There are currently no schemes for retirement benefits, 

other than superannuation, for any Directors. 

DEALING IN GLG CORPORATION'S SECURITIES BY DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES 

Directors, Officers and Employees of the Company are probibted from trading in OLG securities apart from the period 

5 days commencing the day after OLD announces its ha f-yearly, preliminary final reports and full year accounts. A full 

out inc of the Company's securities trading policy is made publical y avalable on the Company website. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 

Risk is an inherent part of GLG's business. GLG is in a highly competitive market sector. GLG Corp regards material 

business risks as threats to the achievement of GIG Corp's objectives and goals and to the successful execution of its 

strategies. 

The main risks faced by GLG are: 

Operational risk (including dependence on the ongoing viability of its existing major suppliers, reliance on the USA 

consumer market, new trade restrictions, reliance on Executive Directors and Key Executives, uncertainties relating 

to expansion plans); 

Funding risk, in that GLG is dependent upon the continued support of its banks to provide trade financing facilities 

on an ongoing basis; 

Reputation risk; 

Legal, compliance and documentation risk (including product liability, legal compliance guidelines set by 

customers); 

Regulatory risk; 

Outsourced manufacturing and other services; 

Competitive risk; 

Investment risk; 

Credit risk; 

Liquidity risk; and 

Foreign Exchange risk. 

The Audit Committee requests Senior Executives to review and monitor material business risks applicable to the business 

and ongoing operations and reports to the Board for approval. 

Full disclosure of the Company's policies in relation to risk oversight and management of material business risk are made 

publically available on the Company website. 

OTHER INFORMATION 

The Company's Corporate Governance practices and policies in relation to the matters reserved to the Board, matters 

delegated to Senior Executives and a copy of the Board Charter are publicly available at the Company's registered office. 

The policies have also been posted on the Company's website. 
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The Directors of GLG Corp Ltd ("GLG"or"the 

Company") submit herewith the annual 

financial report of the Company for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2010. In order to 

comply with the provisions of the Corporations 

Act 2001, the Directors report as fol ows: 

The names and particulars of the Directors of 

the Company during and since the end of the 

financial year are: 

ESTINA ANG SUAN HONG 

Execurive Chairman Estina Ang Suan Hong is the founder 

of GLG Corp Ltd. Ms Ang is the Executive Chairman of GLG 

and is a member of the Nominorion and Remuneration 

Committee. 

Ms Ang has over 35 years of experience in the textile 

and apparel industry. She began her career in the 

industry in 1975, working for Polly Ailed Kntwear Pte 

Ltd, a Sngapore based apparel group. 

Under her leadership, GLG Corp Ltd has established itself 

as a global supplier of qua ity apparel to major retailers 

n the USA. Ms Ang also spearheaded the Busness' 

expanson into USA, Guatemala and Hong Kong. 

Ms Ang was also the founder of GLT Group, a key 

garment manufacturing supplier to GLG. She oversaw 

CLII Group's establishment of operations in Malaysia, 

Fiji, Brunei, Indonesa, Guatemala, China, Camboda 

and Sri Lanka. Ms Ang divested GLIT Group following 

the listing of GLG. Ms Ang also oversaw the acquisition 

of Maxm Textile Technology Pte Ltd, a texti e finishing 

company, and a subsidary of Ghim Li Group Pte Ltd (the 

major shareholder of GLG). 

Ms Ang graduated from Nanyang Universty in 1974 

with a Bachelor of Arts degree, and is a member of the 

Singapore lnsttute of Directors. 

NE 	: 
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SAMUEL SCOTT WEISS 

Non Executive Deputy Chairman and Lead Independen 

Director, joined the board an 12 October 2005. 

Mr Weiss brings valuable experience in all aspects of 

supply chain management and globallogistics in a multi-

national environment. Mr Weiss is also a member of the 

Audit Committee and Chairman of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee. 

Mr Weiss currently serves as a Non Executive Director 

of the Board of Directors of Oroton Group Limited, IPGA 

Limited, Album Limited and Breville Group Limited 

and is a Director of Open Universities Pty Ltd, Sydney 

Festival and The Benevolent Society. Mr Weiss has an 

AB from Harvard University and an MS from Colombia 

University. 	Mr Weiss brings considerable experience 

and knowledge of Corporate Governance to the Board. 

CHRISTOPHER CHONC MENGTAK 

independent Director, joined the Board on 12 October2005. 

Mr Chong is a member of the Audit Committee. 

Mr Chong is a partner of ACI-1 Investments Pte Ltd, a 

specialist corporate advisory firm in Singapore, and, 

an Associate of Shadforths Limited, a leading financial 

firm in Tasmania, Australia. Prior to co-founding ACH 

Investments Pte Ltd, Mr Chong was a multi-award 

winning equity analyst and the Managing Director 

of HSBC James Capel Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd, 

(now known as HSBC Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd), a 

member of the Hong Kong Bank Group of companies. 

Mr Chong is an Independent Director of several public 

companies listed on the Australian, Singapore and 

Luxembourg Stock Exchanges. Mr Chong is also a 

Director and/or advisor to many private companies and 

to many Asian families and the judicial branch of the 

Singapore government. 

Mr Chong has extensive Asia Pacilic experience having 

previously also been an advisor to listed companies on 

the Exchange of Hong Kong, Jakarta (Indonesia), Kuala 

Lumpur (Malaysia), Makati (Philippines) and Bangkok 

(Thailand). Mr Chong is a fellow of the Australia Institute 

ofCornpany Directors, a fellow of the Singapore Institute 

of Directors and a Master Stockbroker of the Securities 

and Derivatives Industry Association of Australia. 

Mr Chong has received a B,Sc. (Economics) from the 

University College of Wales, an MBA from London 

Business School and is a member of the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of Scotland. 
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ERNEST SEOWTENG PENG 

Independent Director, joined the Boord on 12 October 

2005. Mr Scow is the Chairman of the Audit Committee 

and o member of the Nomination and Remuneration 

committee. 

Mr Scow has over 40 years of experience in the public 

accounting profession and served as a partner of 

international pub ic accountng firms for about 24 years. 

He retred as a partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers in 

June 2004. 

He functioned as the audit engagement partner for a 

considerab e number of public Isted companies in 

Singapore and is familiar with requirements of listed 

companies, Corporate Governance, settng up interna 

controls, restructuring and financial matters. He has also 

been involved in listing a number of companies on the 

Singapore Stock Exchange. 

Mr Scow is current y an independent Director of Guthre 

GTS Limited listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange. 

Mr Scow was a Director of SSH Corporation Limted up 

until 30th June 201 0 when that Company he listed from 

the Singapore Stock Exchange. Mr Scow A a Director of 

C.K. Tang Ltd which was Isted on the Singapore Stock 

Exchange however is now de-Isted. 

Mr Scow is a fellow of CPA Australia, Associate member 

of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia 

and CPA Singapore. 

YONGYN MN 

Director, joined the Board as a Director on 7 June 2006. 

Mr Yang is also on Executive Director of GLGs major 

shareholder, Ghim Li Group Pte Ltd. 

MrYong has a Masters Degree in Business Administration 

from the University of Toronto and a Masters Degree 

n Financial Engineering from the Natonal University 

of Singapore. Mr Yang was a career banker with a 

background in commercial and merchant banking 

before he joined Ghim L Group Pte Ltd in January 2004. 

In additon, he has experence in market planning and 

human resource development consulting and in private 

equity. Mr Yong has been a Director of Swing Media 

Technology Group Ltd since 2010 

Mr Yang supports Ms Ang in Strategic Market Planning, 

in rcviewng opportunities for acquisitions and in 

grooming the next generation of GLG managers. 
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SURNA CAN MENG HU 

Director, joined the Board as a Director on 17 January2010 

Ms Surina Gan Meng Hui joined the Company/n July2001 

She began her career at GLG as a Management Trainee 

where she was assigned the task of leading the 

manufacturing operations. Ms Gan is now responsible 

for the overall management of the Trading Group 

including Sales & Marketing, Product Operations, 

Product and Design Development as well as Finance and 

Accounts. In addition she leads and provides direction 

in the Management of Sales and Marketing activities. 

Ms Gan plans and implements marketing strategies to 

identify and develop new customer base and business 

opportunities on a global scale. 

Ms Gan graduated with a Bachelor of Science (Honours) 

from New York University- Stern in 2001. 

EU MUN LEONG 

Director and Chief Financial Officer, joined Ghim Li Group 

Ftc LrO a major shareholder of GLG as Chief Financial 

Officer in May 2003. 

He joined the board as a Director on 12 October 2005 

and resigned from the Board and position of Chief 

Financial Officer on 11 January 2010. 

Mr Eu has over 25 years of accounting and financial 

management experience and has spent 15 years in the 

banking industry. He joined Chase Manhattan Bank, NA 

in 1981 and became Second Vice President after handling 

portfolios in wholesale banking, real estate finance and 

investment banking. Mr Eu left Chase Manhattan Bank 

in 1990 to take up the position of Vice President of UOB 

(Corporate Finance and Corporate Banking) until 1997. 

From 1997 to 2002, Mr Eu was the Chief Financial Officer 

of Liang Court Group, Somerset Group and the Ascott 

Group and Senior Vice President, Risk Assessment group 

of Capital Land Limited. 

Mr Eu has a Master of Business Administration from 

University of Pittsburgh, USA, a Bachelor of Accountancy 

(Honours) from University of Singapore and is a fellow of 

the lnstituteofCertified Public Accountants of Singapore 

and a fellow of CPA Australia. 
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DIRECTORSHIPS OF OTHER LISTED COMPANIES 

Drectorships of other listed companes held by Directors in the 3 years immedate y before the end of the financial year 

are as follows: 

Samuel Scott Weiss 	 Oroton Group Limited 

Altium Limited 

IPGA Limited 

Brevi le Group Ltd 

Since 2003 

Since 2006 

Since 2007 

Since 2008 

Christopher Chong Meng Tak 	Lorenzo International Limited Since 2006 

ASL Marine Holdings Ltd Since 2006 

SKY China Petroleum Services Ltd Since 2004 

Koon Holdings Limited Since 2003 

Xpress Holdings Limited Since 2001 

Koda Ltd Since 2001 

Showy International Ltd Since 2008 

Ernest Seowleng Peng 	 SSH Corporaton Ltd (now de- isted) Since 2005 

Gutbrie GIS Limited Since 2007 

C.K.Tang Limited (now de listed) Since 2007 

Yong Yin Min 	 Swing Media Technology Group Ltd 	Since 2010 

FORMER PARTNERS OF THE AUDIT FIRM 

No offcer of the Company has been a partner in an audit firm, or a Director of an audit company that is an auditor of 

the Company during the period or was such a partner or Director at a time when the audit firm or the audit company 

undertook an audit of the Company. 

DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDINGS 

The following table sets out each Director's relevant interest in shares, debentures, and rights or options in shares or 

debentures of the Company or a related body corporate as at the date of this report. 

Estina Ang Suan Hong 
	

54,560,003 	 - 

Samuel Scott Weiss 
	

119,999 

Christopher Chong Meng Tak 
	

110,000 

Ernest Seow Teng Peng 
	

99,999 
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

Information about the remuneration of Directors and Senior Management is set out in the remuneration report of this 

Directors' report, on pages 22 to 28. 

SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED TO DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

During and since the end of the financial year an aggregate nil share options (2009: nil) were granted to the Directors as 

part of their remuneration. 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

Mr Shane Hartwig is a Certified Practising Accountant and Chartered Company Secretary and holds a Bachelor of Business 

degree, majoring in Accounting and Taxation from Curtin University of Technology in Western Australia. 

Shane is involved in the areas of Initial Public Offerings, capital raisings, prospectus and information memorandum 

preparation and project management, company assessments and due diligence reviews, mergers and acquisitions and 

providing general corporate advice. Shane is currently Company Secretary of ASX listed Anteo Diagnostics Limited and 

Non Executive Director of ASX listed Uran Limited both on a contract basis. 

Shane has over 17 years experience in the finance industry both nationally and internationally with exposure in both the 

debt and equity capital markets. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The consolidated entity's principal activities in the course of the financial year were the global supplier of knitwear/ 

apparel and supply chain management operation. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

GLC's net profit increased by $5,837 thousand to $7,920 thousand, against a net profit of $2,083 thousand in the previous 

year. The results included a write back of impairment of $2,500 thousand. Lower selling and distribution expenses and 

management efforts to promote cost efficiencies also contributed to the profit increase. 

In spite of challenging market conditions the Company's sales were marginally lower than the prior year. 

Other revenue increased by $694 thousand to $1,336 thousand as compared to $642 thousand in previous year as a 

result of higher average commission rate received from suppliers and the new development of agency fees. 

Costs during the year were tightly managed as the Company continued its cautious approach in the face of poor retail 

trade conditions in the United States. 

Cash as at 30 June 2010 was $2,031 thousand compared to $6,762 thousand as at 30 June 2009. During the year cash 

was utilised to obtain better rebates for on time settlement of suppliers. 

Other Non Current Financial Assets has increased by $1 3,633 thousand due mainly to the reclassification of Other Party 

- DLII Receivables which is at call but not expected to be repaid during the next twelve months. 

Total current payables and borrowings increased by $1,442 thousand, or 30.87%, to $6,113 thousand as at 30 June 2010 

compared to $4,671 thousand as at 30 June 2009 after accounting for the off-settable trust receipts and increased in 

accruals and amount owing to Directors. 
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Equity increased to $35,077 thousand as at 30 June 2010, from $27,160 thousand as at 30 June 2009, from the movement 

in retained profits as at 30 June 2010. 

Cash flows from operations increased to $1 2,149 thousand for the year ended 30 June 2010 compared to $417 thousand 

in the prior year. Cash flows improved through better management of the supply chain and the tight control of costs. 

We believe the cash flows from operations of GLG remains sufficient to meet our working capital requirements, capital 

expenditures, debt servicing and other funding requirements for the foreseeable future. 

CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 

During the financial period there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity other than 

that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto. 

DIVIDENDS 

in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2010, the Directors do not recommend the payment ofa final dividend and 

no interim dividend was paid. In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2009, no dividend was declared. 

SHARES UNDER OPTION OR ISSUED ON EXERCISE OF OPTIONS 

Details of the unissued shares or interests under option as at the date of this report are: 

GLG Corp Limited 	 - 	 Ordinary 	 - 	 - 

Details of shares or interests issued during or since the end of the financial year as a result of exercise of an option are: 

GLG Corp Limited 	 - 	 Ordinary 

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS 

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of the Company 

(as named above), the Company Secretary, and all Executive Officers of the Company and of any permitted by the 

Corporations Act 2001.The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the 

premium. 

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 

indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate against a 

liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
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DIRECTORS' MEETINGS 

The following table sets out the number of directors' meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) held 

during the financial year and the number of meetings attended by each director (while they were a director or committee 

member). During the financial year 5 Board meetings, 1 Nomination and Remuneration Committee meetings and 4 

Audit Committee meetings were held: 

Estina Ang Suan Hong 5 5 	 I 	 1 	 - 	- 
Samuel Scott Weiss 5 5 	 1 	 1 	 4 	 4 

Eu Mun Leong 5 3 	 - 	- 	 - 
Ernest Seow Teng Peng 5 5 	 1 	 1 	 4 	 4 

Christopher Chong Meng Tak 5 4 	 - 	- 	4 	 4 

YongYinMin 5 5 	 - 	- 	- 	- 
Surina Gan Meng Hui 1 1 	 - 	- 	 - 
Surina Gan Meng Hui 1 1 	 - 	- 	 - 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor is 

outlined in Note 32 to the full financial report. 

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor (or by another person 

or firm on the auditor's behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 

Corporations Act 2001. 

The Directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 32 to the full financial statements do not compromise 

the external auditors'independence, based on advice received from the Audit Committee, for the following reasons: 

all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and 

objectivity of the auditor, and 

none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code ofConduct 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards 

Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity 

for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards. 
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AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

The auditor's independence dec aration is included on page 30 of the financial report. 

ROUNDING OFF OF AMOUNTS 

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance 

with that Class Order amounts in the Directors' report and the fnancial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand 

dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 

All amounts are presented in US dol ars, unless otherwise noted. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT 

This Remuneration report, which forms part of the Directors' report, sets out information about the remuneration of GLG 

Corp Ltd's Directors and its Senior Management for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.The prescribed details for each 

person covered by this report are detailed below under the following headings: 

Directors and Senior Management details 

remuneration policy 

relationship between the remuneration policy and company performance 

remuneration of Directors and Senior Management 

key terms of employment contracts. 

Directors and senior management details 

The following persons acted as directors of the Company duhrig or since the end of the financial year: 

Estina Ang Suan Hong (Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 

Samuel Scott Weiss (Non-executive Deputy Chairman and Independeni Director) 

Eu Mun Leong (Director and Chief Financial Officer) (resignedor) H January2010) 

Christopher Chong Meng Tak (Independent Director) 

Ernest Seow Teng Peng (Independent Director) 

Yong Yin Mm (Director) 

Surina Gan Meng Hui (appointed on 11 January2010) 

The term 'Senior Management' is used in this remuneration report to refer to the following persons. Except as noted, the 

named persons held their current position for the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year: 

Agnes Ng Moi Ngw (Senio( VP ProductSourcing & Business Development) (Resigned an 2 March 2010) 

Felicia Gan Peiling (Direclor Retail) 

Alice Chong (Acting Chief Financial Officer) 

Mr Shane Hartwig is the Company secretary to GLG. Mr Hartwig is eriiployed bylransocean Group of which GLG pay an 

annual fee of US$46,241 for the services provided. 
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REMUNERATION POLICY 

The remuneration for Key Management Personnel is determned as fol ows: 

For the Executive Charman, Chief Executve Officer, the Nomnaton and Remuneration Committee determines 

and makes recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages and other terms of emp oyment having 

regard to the need to attract, retain and develop approprately skilled people. Remuneration is reviewed on an 

annual basis having regard to personal and corporate performance and relevant comparative information. 

The remuneration of NonExecutve Directors may not exceed in aggregate in any tinancial period the amount 

fixed by the Company at the general meeting. 

For executives the Nomnation and Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration policies and practices and 

makes recommendatons to the Board regarding their approval. Remuneration is reviewed on an annual basis 

having regard to personal and corporate performance and relevant comparative information. 

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE REMUNERATION POLICY AND COMPANY PERFORMANCE 

The tables below set out summary information about the consolidated entty's earnings and movements in shareholder 

wealth for the fve years to June 2010: 

Revenue from all sources 197,496 197,515 210,356 222,640 200,077 

Net profit before tax 9,015 3,006 7,144 8,892 9,978 

Net profit after tax 7,920 2,083 6,324 8,067 9,283 

I,JrflT(s 

Share price at start of year $0.16 $0.26 $0.85 $1.02 $1.00 

Share price at end of year $0.28 $0.16 $0.26 $0.85 $1.02 

Final dividend (unfranked) - 6.2cps 6.2cps 

Basic earnings per share 1 0.69cps 2.81 cps 8.53cps 1 0.89cps 1 3.85cps 

Diuted earnings per share 1 0.69cps 2.81 cps 853cps 1 0.89cps 1 3.85cos 
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

Each Executive Director of the Company has entered into an Executive Service Agreement with Ghim Li Global Pte Ltd, a 

major subsidiary of GLG Corp Ltd. They are not remunerated separately for being a Director or Executive of the Company 

or other operating entities. Under their respective terms of engagement, all Executives, with the exception of Mr Yong 

Yin Mm: 

commenced their terms as an executive of Ghim Li Global Pte Ltd on 1 January 2005, for a 3 year term, and 

thereafter their engagement automatically continues from year to year, unless their Executive Service Agreement is 

terminated; 

are covenanted to not compete against GLG's operations for a period of 12 months after cessation of employment 

with Ghim Li Global Pte Ltd; 

agree that either party may terminate their Executive Service Agreement by giving 3 months written notice. 

In addition, Ghim Li Global Pte Ltd may without prior notice terminate their Service Agreements under certain 

conditions, for example, if the executive commits a serious breach of his or her obligations, or is guilty of grave 

misconduct in the discharge of his or her duties, or becomes bankrupt. 

The service agreements contain otherwise standard terms, including with regard to each executive's duties, Ghim Li 

Global Pte Ltd owns any intellectual property created by its executives, confidentiality, entitlements to minor benefits in 

addition to their remuneration, and devoting substantially the whole of their time and attention during business hours 

to the discharge of their duties. 

Each Executive Director receives a salary per annum. They may also be entitled to an annual bonus determined by the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee, in its absolute discretion. 

Each of the key managers have entered into a service agreement with Ghim Li Global Pte Ltd, the general terms of which 

are not materially different to those of the Executive Directors described above. 

Each key manager receives a salary per annum, reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer annually with reference to the 

progress of GLG. Each may also be entitled to an annual bonus determined by the Chief Executive Officer, reviewed by 

the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and approved by the Board taking into account overall management 

performance and the Company's profit for the year. 

ELEMENTS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION 

Remuneration packages contain the following key elements: 

(a) 	Short-term employment benefits - salaries/fees, bonuses; 

(h) 	Post-employment benefits; and 

(c) 	Equity Options. 
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENtOR MANAGEMENT 

Directors 

Estina Ang Suan Hong 1  375,349 71494 	- - 	8,262 - 	455,105 

Samuel Scott Weiss 63,014 - 	- - 	 - 63,014 

Eu Mun Leong 2  46,472 - 	- - 	1,692 	- - 	48,164 

Christopher Chong 43,801 - - 	- 	- - 	43,801 

Meng Tak 

Ernest Seowleng Peng 43,801 - - 	- 	- - 	43,801 

YongYinMin 75,070 21,448 	- - 	4,508 	- 101,026 

Surina ffian Meng Hui 1  112,497 41,467 	- - 	11,615 	- - 	165,579 

760,004 134,409 	- - 	26,077 	- - 	920,490 

Executives 

Felicia Can Peiling 65,632 6,291 - 	6,515 	- - 	78,438 

Agnes Ng Moi Ngw'1  59,841 6,291 - 	2,418 	- - 	68,550 

Alice Chong 93,261 12,869 - 	4,508 - 	110,638 

218,734 25,451 - 	13,441 	- - 	257,626 

Total 978,738 159,860 	- - 	39,518 	- - 	1,178,116 

Estina Ang Suan Hong, Surina Can Meng Hui are both Directors and Executives of GLG Corp Ltd. Estina Ang Suan Hong acts as the Chief Executive 

Officer, Surina Can Meng Hui is the Chief Operating Officer, Surina Can Meng Hui was appointed as Director on 11 January 2010. 

Eu Mun Leong was a Director and held the position of Chief Financial Officer up until his resignation on 11 January 2010. 

Agnes Ng Moi Ngw resigned on 2 March 2010. 

1  Alice Chong, is the Acting Chief Financial Officer is employed by Chim Li Group Pte Ltd, the ultimate parent entity of GLG Corp Ltd, with 

Ms Chong's services being paid on behalf of Chim Li Group Etc Ltd for GLG Corp Ltd during the 30 June2010 financial year. 
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

Directors 

Estina Ang Suan Hong 	362,169 	- 	 - 	- 	3,357 	- 	 - 	365,526 

Samuel Scott Weiss 	 59,293 	- 	 - 	- 	- 	- 	2,339 	61,632 

EuMunLeong 	 94,164 	 - 	- 	3,916 	- 	 - 	98,079 

ChristopherChong 	 39,529 	- 	 - 	- 	- 	- 	2,339 	41,868 

Meng Tak 

Ernest Seowleng Peng 	39,529 	- 	 - 	 - 	- 	2,339 	41,868 

YongYinMin 	 50,704 	- 	 - 	- 	1,959 	- 	 - 	52,662 

	

645,388 	- 	 - 	- 9,232 	- 	7,017 661,637 

Executives 

Surina Can Meng Hui 	110,824 	- 	 3,374 	5,406 	 - 	119,604 

Agnes Ng Mol Ngw 	 106,167 	- 	 - 	414 	3,916 	- 	 - 	110,497 

	

216,991 	- 	 - 3,788 9,322 	- 	 - 230,101 

Total 	 862,379 	- 	 - 3,788 18,554 	- 	7,017 891,738 

SHARE OPTION PLAN 

In respect of each Independent Director, upon listing of the Company, Chim Li Group Pte ltd (ultimate parent entity of 

GLG Corp Ltd) agreed to assign 300,000 shares to an escrow agent on or before 11 October 2006, Each Independent 

Director was entitled to receive up to 100,000 of these GLG Corp Ltd shares for nil consideratiorì, receivable as follows: 

	

Upon the first anniversary of their appointment 	33,333 shares for 1 year's continuous service as a Director 

Upon the second anniversary of their appointment 	33,333 shares for 2 year's continuous service as a Director 

	

Upon the third anniversary of their appointment 	33,333 shares for 3 year's continuous service as a Director 

The purpose of the share options was to: 

Provide long term incentive to each Independent Director to remain with the group 

Improve the long term performance of the Company 

The options issued to each of the Non Executive Directors formed part of their overall compensation package and 

represented the Long Term Incentive component of the agreed package. This component of the package was 

determined after considering and reviewing packages being paid by comparable listed companies both in terms of size 

and profitability. The shares are issued by the Executive Chairman and not by the Company. 
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The following share based payment arrangements were in existence: 

Issued 11 October 2006 	100,000 	14/12/05 	11/10/06 	 - 	 0.74 

Issued 11 October 2007 	100,000 	14/12/05 	11/10/07 	 0,74 

Issued 11 October 2008 	100,000 	14/12/05 	11/10/08 	 - 	 0.74 

The series 3 options vested during the previous reporting period. 

Each Independent Director was granted shares at a zero strike price. The value of the options was determined as the 

difference between the share price at grant date and the strike price of zero. 

The following reconciles the outstanding share options granted under the share option plan at the beg'nning and end 

of the financial year: 

Balance at beginning of financial year 

Granted during the financial year 

Forfeited during the financial year 

Exercised during the financial year 

Balance at end of the financial year 

Exercisable at end of the financial year 

2010 	 2009 

Weighted 	 Weighted 

Numberof average Numberof average 

Options exercise price 	Options exercise price 

166,667 	 - 

— 	 — 	166,667 	 - 
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Exercised during the financial year 

No options were exercised during 2010. 

2009 Option 	 —nber exercie ercise datilläre price at exercise date $ 

(3) Issued 11 October 2008 	 99,999 	 1 9/6/09 

99,999 

Balance at end of the financial year 

There were nil share options outstanding as at 30 June 2010. 
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The Directors report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.298 (2) of the 

Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors 

Estina Ang Suan Hong 

Executive Chairman 

Singapore, 23 September 2010 
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Deloitte Touche Tohinatsu 

 ABN 74490 121 060 

ANZ Centre 
Level 9 
22 Elizabeth Street 
Hobart LAS 7000 
GPO Box 777 
Hobart TAS 7001 Australia 

The Board of Directors 
DX 197 
Tel: +61 (0) 3 6237 7000 

GLG Corp Ltd Fax: +61 (0) 3 6237 7001 

Level 5, 56 Pitt Street www.deloitte.com.au  

SYDNEY NSW 2000 

23 September 2010 

Dear Board Members 

GLG Corp Ltd 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, 1 am pleased to provide the 
following declaration of independence to the directors of GLG Corp Ltd. 

As lead audit lartner for the audit of the financial statements of GLG Corp Ltd for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2010, 1 declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been 
no contraventions of: 

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit; and 

any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours sincerely 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

Rod Whitehead 
Partner 
Chartered Accountant 

I 1at)Ilitv Ii O1IECC1 by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
Member of 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 Deloitte. 
ANZ Centre 
Level 9 
22 Elizabeth Street 
Hobart TAS 7000 
GPO Box 777 
Hobart TAS 7001 Australia 

DX 197 
Tel: +61 (0) 3 6237 7000 
Fax: +61 (0) 3 6237 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au  

Independent Auditor's Report to the members of 
GLG Corp Ltd 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of GLG Corp Ltd, which comprises the statement 
of financial position as at 30 June 2010, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of cash 
flows and the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, notes comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors' 
declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the 
year's end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 22 to 67. 

Directors' Responsibility fir the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances, in 
Note 2, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements, that compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, 
complies with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we 
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor'sjudgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

Member of 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 	 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Auditor's Independence Declaration 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence recluirements  of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

Auditor's Opinton 

In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of GLG Corp Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2010 
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 
complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
Note 2. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 14 to 18 of the directors' report for the 
year ended 30 June 2010. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Auditor's Opinion 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of GLG Corp Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2010, complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

Rod Whitehead 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Hobart, 23 September 2010 

0') 
) L 	L 	SF LT( ANF\ UAI SF 0 /UF I 



DIRECTORS' 
DE CLABATION 

.1 I NNUALY5AR LNDL 	O UNI 2010 

The Directors declare that: 

in the Directors opnion, there are reasonab e grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they become due and payable; 

the attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as stated in 

note 2 to the financial statements; 

in the Directors opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the 

financial position and performance of the consolidated entity; and 

the Directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a reso ution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors 

Estina Ang Suan Hong 

Executive Chairman 

Singapore, 23 September 2010 

us I CORP I I) ANNUAl REP( S W 	) ) 



A'1I 

- 	 . 
It 

IL(1iIi9T, 

l(.r 	1O 	tIt 	IIIflh 	III 
tIll 	Il 	II 

' 	j•' :1 	piLlir • tL 

9 	IQIKd 	it9 	,il.Ii 	Ilit't19I 
(rIfliijIii1iCtfl.lL / LlII1.19O 

1(Ioritl9cI(L- 	I:IIIKL' 
II 	 i 	lItI't 	i 

rIr(.Ii\tr 	O)IflI ,i9_ 

---i 
II 	1 	IIi9 	cc 	I; 	R 	Iiflryj 	i)ItiIk. 

r 	9 	: 	191 	Ikcc 	JIiiiiCIic 
9 	tC C 	)I 	191 	II 	( 	C)l 	11 

II 	09 It 	LI 	UO 	9 

9 	v99Cj99[tCIl]fl 'dl.. 
t0"c'999'iip, 	lrlhhH;IlIfl9iPIi,0'.0 

,lI.nlCnlIIi9l't,iiIIl1dii(iIII't, . 

'4t 	:,itoiI 	lt,ItIl9C 	ii; 
I[IIIT 	9iCtC 	C0j 	['9 	 . 

') 	!. 	p 	n 	II 1I!1Id09 91'i119t 	Cii 
7 	I'itc-1;h HU 	1091 II1;: 	\99ti-t Ii 	Il1.'I1Jli1' 9./ 

rOtc 	c[O[lfl[lo09,rtcOr IKC;!19 
II 	1 [C[,9111C" ;lrI[49 	r..i9 	990'; OC 

.: 	 [11hClIi[ 	It 	:19iII99tc' 	I 	Ivi9ic, 
II 	'i 	01 PI 	. 	/01 

.. 	li.oiiio 	I'IIII 	(i:Ih9thiribc 	lit '/1 
ti. 	1 	- rIi.f19 	0IIfl[i1 	I 	/119011 	WCC  

99119 rO 	oiiUIñ' 9r0rO 
I' i11119i1 	II 1\9r01 	II ,i,;t10ict 

-rIO 	l;t, 	t 	pii ilCi' .911:9cCI9orilUI 
II 	l9,\t9o'9i'lrrj9[. 	,,l9( 	- 910  

9- '9 	H 9-d 0i11j 	hi" 9i9oOñ0909F 	. . 	OOi9Q'IIi;I9I1'fl0)ll 	;, :911d11' i0tc 	99 	?r9119 90 

.9119)111 	9l;I lIP) 
II 0 	I 	0;.9)Ii'99 	1010  Cii .tclj1di 9/9  rIIIh1llptH 9,79 

II It 	10i1O' 	.1010109.9- 9910 	. 

II 	t.'- 	r?'ti9l 091119 	990 	i109 9910 

99 	191, 'c9Yiii 	9 	. 11101 . 



C( )NS 01 IDATED 
STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSiVE INCOME 
FORTHE HNANEIAL HEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

Note US$'OOO US$'OOO 

Continuing Operations 

Revenue 5 195,495 196,021 

Cost of sales (176,331) (176,939) 

Gross profit 19,164 19,082 

Other revenue 5 1,336 642 

Other income 5 665 852 

Distribution expenses (1,048) (2,061) 

Administration expenses (10,823) (10,298) 

Finance costs 6 (1,404) (542) 

Impairment expense - (2,800) 

Reversal of impairment 2,500 - 
Other expenses (1,336) (1,615) 

Share of losses of jointly controlled entities accounted 

for using the equity method 11 (39) (254) 

Profit before income tax expense 9,015 3,006 

Income tax expense 8 (1,095) (923) 

Profit for the year from continuing operations 7,920 2,083 

Discontinued operations 

Loss for the year from discontinued operations 25 - - 
Profit for the year 7,920 2,083 

Other comprehensive income - -. 

Total comprehensive income for the year 7,920 2,083 

Earnings per share: 

From continuing and discontinued operations: 

Basic (cents per share) 19 10.69 2.81 

Diluted (cents per share) 19 10.69 2.81 

From continuing operations: 

Basic (cents per share) 19 10.69 2.81 

Diluted (cents per share) 19 10.69 2.81 

Notes to the financial statements are included on page 39 to 93 
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CONSUl JIDATED 
STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
At Al 30JUNE 2010 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 
Note US$'OOO US$'OOO 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 26(a) 2031 6,762 

Trade and other receivables 9 22,819 19,994 

Inventory 5 41 

Other assets 13 226 268 

Other financial assets 10 - 2,580 

Total current assets 25,081 29,645 

Non-current assets 

Other financial assets 10 18,200 4,567 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 11 - 39 

Property, plant and equipment 12 1,050 1,035 

Total non-current assets 19,250 5,641 

Total assets 44,331 35,286 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 14 5,032 2,835 

Borrowings is 1,081 1,836 

Current tax liabilities  1,049 750 

Total current liabilities 7,162 5,421 

Non-current liabilities 

Borrowings is 2,005 2,618 

Deferred tax liabilities  87 87 

Total non-current liabilities 2,092 2,705 

Total liabilities 9,254 8,126 

Net assets 35,077 27,160 

Equity 

Issued capital 16 10,322 10,322 

Reserves 17 - 3 

Retained earnings 18 24,755 16,835 

Total equity 35,077 27,160 

Nores to the financial starements are included on page 39 to 93 
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CONSOLIDATED 
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[OR [HE HNANCIA[ YEAR [HOED 30 JUNE 2010 

Share based 	Financial 

Consolidated 

Balance at 1 July 2008 

Profit for the year 

Other comprehensive income for the year 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Recognition of financial guarantee fees 

Recognition of share-based payments 

Transfer to issued share capital 

Payment of dividends 

Balance at 30 June 2009 

Balance at 1 July 2009 

Profit for the year 

Other comprehensive income for the year 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Recognition of financial guarantee fees 

Recognition of share-based payments 

Transfer to issued share capital 

Payment of dividends 

Balance at 30 June 2010 

Issued Payment Guarantee Retained 

Capital Reserves Reserves Profits Total 

Note US$'OOO US$'OOO US$'OOO US$'OOO US$'OOO 

10,252 63 81 14,752 25,148 

- - - 2,083 2,083 

- - - 2,083 2,083 

17 - - (78) - (78) 

17 - 7 - - 7 

70 (70) - - - 
20 - - - 

10,322 - 3 16,835 27,160 

10,322 - 3 16,835 27,160 

- - 7,920 7,920 

- - - 7,920 7,920 

17 - - (3) - (3) 

17 - - - - - 

20 - - - - - 
10,322 - - 24,755 35,077 

Notes to the financial statements are included on page 39 to 93 
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CO NS() IJ[)ATED 
STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS 
FORTHE I INANCAI YEAR kNOLL) TRiUNE 2010 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

Note 	US$'OOO US$'OOQ 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Receipts from customers 199,343 196,667 

Payments to suppliers and employees (186,102) (194,766) 

Interest and other costs of finance paid (387) (542) 

Interest received 162 

Income tax paid (705) (1,104) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 26(c) 	 12,149 417 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 483 123 

Payment for property, plant and equipment (472) (122) 

Proceeds on the sale of investment 1,950 - 
Interests acquired in joint venture - (293) 

Proceeds from repayment of related party loans (95) - 
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 1,866 (292) 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Drawdown of borrowings - 3,368 

Repayment of borrowings (92) (560) 

Amounts advanced to other parties (14,895) - 
Amounts advanced to related parties (3,759) - 
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (18,746) 2,808 

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,731) 2,933 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 6,762 3,829 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 	26(a) 2,031 6,762 

Notes to the financial statements are included on page 39 to 93 

ON'[ h)AkN "JAI, SEP 21 ElliS 



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FRTH F H\' \ 	FAR FNDFD 30J 	X10  

GENERAL INFORMATION 

GLG Corp Ltd ("GLG"or"tke Company") isa public company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (trading under 

the symbol 'GLE'), incorporated in Australia and operating in Asia. 

GLG Corp Ltd's registered office and princpal place of business are as fo lows: 

Registered office 	 Principal place of business 

Level 5,56 Pitt Street 	 41, Changi South Ave 2, 

Sydney, NSW 2000 	 Sngapore 486153 

Australia 

The entity's principal activities are the global supplier of knitwear/apparel and supp y chain management operation. 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Statement of compliance 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report whch has been prepared in accordance with the 

Corporatons Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and comples with other requirements of the 

law. The financial report comprises the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Enancial Reporting Standards ('A IFRS). 

Compliance with the A- FRS ensures that the financial statements and notes of the Company and the Group 

comply with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS'). 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 24 September 2010. 

Basis of preparation 

The financial report has been prepared on the bass of historical cost, except for financial instruments. Cost is based 

on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in US dollars, unless 

otherwise noted. 

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/1  00, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance 

with that Class Order amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 

otherwise indicated. 

Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 

In the current year, the Company has adopted all of the new and revsed Standards and Interpretations issued 

by the Austra ian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the 

current annual reporting period. Detai s of the impact of the adoption of these new accounting standards are set 

out in the individual accounting polcy notes set out below. 



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEI'IENTS 

OR TH[ FFNANC1 AI YEAR EN[)EL) 30 JUNL 2010 

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards (cont'd) 

New and revised Standards and Interpretations effective for the current period that are relevant to the Company 

include: 

AASB 3 Business Cominations 

AASB 8 Operating Segments 

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 

AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

AASB 7 Financial Instrument: Disclosures 

The adoption of these Standards and Interpretations has resulted in changes to the Company's accounting 

policies but has not affected the amounts reported in the current or prior periods. The changes to the Company's 

accounting policies are as follows: 

Business combinations 

AASB 3 Business Comb/notions (2008) applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition 

date is on or after 1 July 2009 and alters the manner in which business combinations and changes in ownership 

interest in subsidiaries are accounted for. Accordingly, its adoption has no impact on previous acquisitions made 

by the Company. 

The effect of AASB 3 (2008) and its consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards has been to: 

allow a choice on a transaction-by-transaction basis for the measurement of non-controlling interests 

(previously referred to as minority interests); 

change the recognition and subsequent accounting requirements of contingent consideration. Under the 

previous version of the Standard, contingent consideration was recognised at the acquisition date only 

where it met probability and reliably measurable criteria; under the revised Standard the consideration for 

the acquisition always includes the fair value of any contingent consideration. Once the fair value of the 

contingent consideration at the acquisition date has been determined, subsequent adjustments are made 

against goodwill only to the extent that they reflect fair value at the acquisition date, and they occur within 

the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date). Under the previous version 

of the Standard, adjustments to contingent consideration were always made against goodwill; 

where the business combination in effect settles a pre-existing relationship between the Company and 

acquiree, require the recognition of a settlement gain or loss, measured at fair value of non-contractual 

relationships; and 

require that acquisition-related costs be accounted for separately from the business combination, generally 

leading to those cost being expensed when incurred. Previously such costs were accounted for as part of 

the cost of the acquisition of the business. 
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOR IHL FN \\( 	RR [NI D 0 JUNF '010  

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

Presentation of financial statements 

The Company has adopted the revised AASB 101 (2007) Presentation of Financial Statements from 1 July 2009. 

The revised Standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. As a result, all non owner changes in 

equity are presented in a statement of comprehensive income and all owner changes in equity are presented in a 

statement of changes in equity. 

The revised Standard also changes the title of other financial statements; the income statement is now termed the 

statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet is now termed the statement of financial position and the 

cash flow statement is now termed the statement of cash flows. 

Comparative information has been re presented to comply with the revised Standard. Since the change in 

accounting policy only affects presentation aspects, there is no impact on the financial postion or performance of 

the Company. 

Chanes in ownership interests of subsidiaries 

AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (2008) has been adopted in the current period and 

applies prospectively. The revised Standard has resulted in changes in the Company's accounting policy in 

regarding increases and decreases in ownership interests in its subsidiaries. In prior years, in the absence of specific 

requ'rements in the Australian Accounting Standards, increases in interests in existing -subsidiaries were treated 

in the same manner as the acqu'sition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a barga'n purchase gain being recognised 

where appropriate. The impact of decreases in interests in subsidiaries that did not involve loss of control was 

recognised in profit or loss. Under AASB 127 (2008), all increases or decreases in such interest are recognised in 

equity, with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss. When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction 

or other circumstance, the revised Standard requires that the Group derecognises all assets, liabilities, and non-

controlling interests at their carrying amount. Any retained interest in the former subsidary is recognised at its fair 

va ue at the date that control is lost. A gain or loss on loss of control is recognised in profit or loss as the difference 

between the proceeds, if any, and these adjustments. 

Chanes in ownership interests of associates 

AASB 128 Investments in Associates was amended by AASB 2008-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from AASB 3 and AASB 127, and has been adopted in the current period. The principle adopted 

in AASB 127 (2008) that a change in accounting basis is recognised as a disposal and re-acquisition at fair value 

is extended by consequential amendments to AASB 128 such that, on loss of significant influence, the investor 

measures at fair value any investment the investor retains in the former associate. 

If ,In S 	 ' 2' 



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCLAL 
S]ATEMENTS 

HF FINANCAL YEAR ENDED JO JUNE 

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

Standards and Interpretations issued not yet effective 

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, a number of Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not 

yet effective. 

ve for annualreporting 	Expectedlcbe initially applied 

!iWJs beginning on or after. in the firandáI year ending 

AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to 	 1 January 2010 	 30 June 2011 
Australian Accounting Standards arising 

from the Annual Improvements Project 

AASB 2009-8Amendments to Australian 	1 January 2010 	 30 June 2011 
Accounting Standards - Group Cash-Settled 

Share-based Payment Transactions 

AASB 2009- loAmendments to Australian 	1 February 2010 	 30 June 2011 
Accounting Standards - Classification of 

Rights Issues 

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures 	 1 January 2011 	 30 June 2012 
(revised December 2009), AASB 2009- 12 

Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards 

AASB 9Financiallnstruments, AASB 2009-1 1 	1 January 2013 	 30 June 2014 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from AASB 9 

AASB 2009-I4 Amendments toAustralian 	1 January 2011 	 3O June 2Ol2 

Interpretation - Prepoyments of a 

Minimum Funding Requirement 

Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial 	1 July 2010 	 30 June 2011 
Liabilities with Equity lns trumen t.s 
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the 

financial report: 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities 

that comprise the consolidated entity, being the Company (the parent entity) and its subsidiaries as defined 

in Accounting Standard AASB 127 'Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements A list of subsidiaries 

appears in note 24 to the financial statements. Consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation 

and presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values 

at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets 

acquired is recognised as goodwill. If, after reassessment, the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired 

exceed the cost of acquisition, the deficiency is credited to profit and loss in the period of acquisition. 

The interest of minority shareholders is stated at the minority's proportion of the fair values of the assets and 

liabilities recognised. 

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date 

on which the Company obtains control and until such time as the Company ceases to control such entity. 

The consolidated financial statements have been accounted for as reverse acquisition of companies under 

common control and the consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the reverse acquisition 

accounting method. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, and 

unrealised profits arising within the consolidated entity are eliminated in full. 

Joint venture arrangements 

Jointly controlled entities 

Interest in jointly controlled entities in which the Group is a venturer (and so has joint control) are accounted 

for under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements and the cost method in the Company 

financial statements. 

Investments in jointly controlled entities where the Group is an investor but does not have joint control over 

that entity are accounted for as an available-for-sale financial asset or, if the Group has significant influence, 

by using the equity method. 

Foreign currency 

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in its functional currency being 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. For the purpose of the 

consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in United 

States dollars, which is the functional currency of GLG Corp Ltd and the presentation currency for the 

consolidated financial statements 
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOR THE HNANOAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

(C) 	Foreign currency (cont'd) 

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transaction in currencies other than the 

entity's functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. 

At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 

prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in 

foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except that: 

(i) 	exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use, which are 

included in the cost of those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on 

foreign currency borrowings (refer note 2 (k)); 

(H) 	exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and 

(iii) exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which 

settlement is neither planned or likely to occur, which form part of the net investment in a foreign 

operation, and which are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve and recognised in 

profit or loss on disposal of the net investment. 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated in United States 

dollars at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at 

the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, 

in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if 

any, are classified as equity and transferred to the groups foreign currency translation reserve. Such exchange 

differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity on or after the date of 

transition to A-IFRS are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at exchange rates 

prevailing at the reporting date. Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to A-IFRS is 

treated as an Australian dollar denominated asset. 

(d) 	Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 

(i) 	where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as 

part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 

(H) 	for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 

receivables or payables. 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis.The GST component of cash flows arising 

from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 

classified within operating cash flows. 
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIALYEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for 

estimated customer returns, stock rotation, price protection, rebates and other similar allowances. 

Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered to buyers' forwarders which are 

taken to be the point in time when the buyers have accepted the goods and the related risks and rewards of 

ownership. 

Rendering of services 

Rendering of services is commission income recognised upon completion of services rendered to fabric 

suppliers and garments manufacturers. 

Dividend and interest revenue 

Dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis. Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate 

basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 

Income tox 

Current tax 

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the 

taxable profit or tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability 

(or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable). 
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FORTHE FINANCIALYEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

Income tax (cont'd) 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary 

differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial 

statements and the corresponding tax base of those items. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised 

for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 

sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary .differences or unused tax 

losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 

temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other 

than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. 

Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising 

from goodwill. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised fortaxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 

branches, associates and joint ventures except where the consolidated entity is able to control the reversal of 

the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments 

and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits 

against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the 

foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) 

when the asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities 

and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the consolidated 

entity expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority and the Company/consolidated entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net 

basis. 

Current and deferred tax for the period 

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when 

it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised 

directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, in which case it is 

taken into. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash comprise cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 

in value and have a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition. 

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet. 
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FINANCLAI 
STATEMENTS 
FORTHE FINANCIALYEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

(h) 	Financial assets 

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment 

is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the 

market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs except for those financial 

assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in the Company's 

financial statements. Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in associates are accounted for under 

the equity method in the consolidated financial statements and the cost method in the Company financial 

statements. 

other financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets'at fair value through 

profit or lossc 'held-to-maturity' investments, 'available-for-sale' financial assets, and 'loans and receivables'.  

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of 

initial recognition. 

Effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 

allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the 

effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premium or discounts) through the expected life of the 

financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instruments other than those financial 

assets 'at fair value through profit or loss 

Loans and receivables 

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market are classified as 'loans and receivables'. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method less impairment. 

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate. 
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOR THE HNANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

(h) 	Financial assets (cont'd) 

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment 

at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of 

one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset the estimated future cash 

flows of the investment have been impacted. 

The carrying amount of financial assets including uncollectible trade receivables is reduced by the impairment 

loss through the use of an allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 

credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 

recognized through profit and loss. 

For financial assets carried at amortised costs, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the 

asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 

effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of financial assets including uncollectible trade receivables is reduced by the impairment 

loss through the use of an allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 

are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 

recognised in profit or loss. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 

expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 

another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 

and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 

associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial assets and also 

recognises collateralised borrowings for the proceeds received. 

(I) 	Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion 

of fixed and variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate 

to each particular class of inventory, valued on a first in first out basis. Net  realisable value represents the 

estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling 

and distribution. 
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FINANCIAL 
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2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

Property, p/ant and equipment 

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply ofgoods or services, orfor administrative purposes, 

are carried in the balance sheet at fair value, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 

accumulated impairment losses. Fair value is determined on the basis ofan independent valuation prepared 

by external valuation experts, based on discounted cash flows or capitalisation of net income, as appropriate. 

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially 

from those that would be determined using fair values at the balance sheet date. 

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding 

land. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost or other revalued 

amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. Leasehold improvements 

are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the 

straight line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at 

the end of each annual reporting period. The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of 

depreciation 

Leasehold improvements 	 5-10 years 

Plant and equipment 	 5-10 years 

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 	3-5 years 

Motor vehicles 	 5-10 years 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

borrowings are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and 

the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the borrowing using the effective 

interest rate method. 

(I) 	Leased assets 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Group as lessee 

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal 

to the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The 

corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease 

payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve 

a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly 

against income. 

Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. 
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

(I) 	Leased assets (cont'd) 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 

where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 

the leased asset are consumed. 

Lease incentives 

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised 

as a liability. The aggregate benefits of incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a 

straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 

economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

(m) 	Intangible assets 

Patents, trademarks and licences 

Patents, trademarks and licences are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. 

Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years. The estimated 

useful life and amortisation method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. 

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development costs 

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Where 

no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an 

expense in the period as incurred. 

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is 

recognised if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated 

- 	the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 

- 	the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

- 	how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits: 

- 	the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and 

to use or sell the intangible asset; and 

- 	the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development. 
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FOR THE FFNANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

Intangible assets (cont'd) 

Internally-generated intangible assets 

Internally-generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment, and 

are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows: 

capitalised development costs 5 years 

Employee benefits 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long 

service leave, and sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of 

being measured reliably. 

Provisions made in respect of short term employee benefits are measured at their nominal values using the 

remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

Provisions made in respect of long term employee benefits are measured as the present value of the estimated 

future cash outflows to be made by the consolidated entity in respect of services provided by employees up 

to reporting date. 

Deflned.contribution plans 

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when employees have rendered 

service entitling them to the contributions. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 

result of a past event, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision 

can be measured reliably. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 

amount is the present value of those cash flows. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from 

a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and 

the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

Warranties 

Provisions for warranty costs are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the Directors' best 

estimate of the expenditure required to settle the consolidated entity's liability. 
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NOTES TO THE 
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STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

2. 	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

(p) 	Financial instruments issued by the Company 

Debt and equity instruments 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance 

of the contractual arrangement. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the 

assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at 

the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Compound instruments 

The component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as liabilities and equity in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the date of issue, the fair value of the 

liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar non-convertible debt. 

This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or upon 

the instruments reaching maturity. The equity component initially brought to account is determined by 

deducting the amount of the liability component from the amount of the compound instrument as a whole. 

This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax effects and is not subsequently remeasured. 

Transaction costs on the issue of equity instruments 

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity as a reduction 

of the proceeds of the equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the costs that are 

incurred directly in connection with the issue of those equity instruments and which would not have been 

incurred had those instruments not been issued. 

Interest and dividends 

Interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the balance sheet 

classification of the related debt or equity instruments or component parts of compound instruments. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities 'at fair value through profit or loss' or other 

financial liabilities. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss where the financial liability is either held 

for trading or it is designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

A financial liability is held for trading if: 

it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or 

it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has 

a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

(p) 	Financial instruments issued by the Company (cont'd) 

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading is designated as at fair value through profit 

or loss upon initial recognition if: 

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 

would otherwise arise; or 

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which 

is managed and its performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's 

documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 

internally on that basis; ant forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and 

AASB 139 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' permits the entire combined contract 

(asset or liability) to be designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 

recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on 

the financial liability. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 28. 

Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 

with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 

allocating interest expense overthe relevant period.The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a 

shorter period. 

3. 	CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management is required to 

make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 

apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 

various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis 

of making the judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Receivables 

Management refer to the current carrying value of the GLIT receivable (the Company's primary sourcing partner), 

The carrying value ofthis receivable has been based on management's judgment and based on various underlying 

assumptions and estimates. 
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont'd) 

Receivables (cont'd) 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 

of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Foreign Currency 

The Group enters into certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies to manage the risk associated with 

anticipated garment export transactions. Further details of foreign currency transactions are disclosed in note 27 
to the financial statements. 

SEGMENT IN FORMATION 

GLG operates in the apparel industry and reports only one reportable segment under AASB 8 'Operating Segments' 
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NOTES TO THE 
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STATEMENTS 
FORTHE FFNANCTAL YEAR ENDED 30 lONE 2010 

5. REVENUE 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

US$'OOO US$'OOO 

Continuing Operations 

Revenue from the sale of goods 195,495 196021 

Revenue from the rendering of services 1336 642 

196,831 196,663 

Other income 

Interest revenue: 

Bank deposits - 
Other - 157 

- 162 

Dividends: 

Subsidiary - - 
Other 665 690 

665 690 

Total other income 665 852 

197,496 197,515 

Discontinued operations 

Other income - - 
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6. 	FINANCE COSTS 

Interest on loans 

Interest on obligations under finance leases 

Other interest expense 

Total interest expense 

Line of credit charges 

Attributable to: 

Continuing operations 

Discontinued operations 

Consolidated 

2010 

us$1000 

2009 

us$'000 

198 

10 

813 

103 

6 

202 

1,021 

383 

311 

231 

1,404 542 

1,404 542 

1,404 542 
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7. 	PROFIT FORTHE YEAR BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

(a) 	Gains and losses 

Profit/(loss) for the year has been arrived at after crediting/(charging) the following gains and losses: 

Consolidated 

Continuing 	Discontinued 	 Total 

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 

US$1000 uS$'000 uS$'000 uS$'000 uS$'000 US$'OOO 

- 	345 	73 

- 	(119) 	- 

— 	(2,500) 	- 

— 	 2,800 

- 	 70 

- 	79 	(85) 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 345 73 	- 

Allowance written back - doubtful debts (119) - 

Reversal of impairment (2,500) - 

Impairment expense - 2,800 	- 

Allowance for doubtful receivables - 70 	- 

Net foreign exchange gain/(losses) 79 (85) 	- 

Proflt/(loss) for the year includes the 

following expenses: 

Depreciation of non-current assets 380 505 	- 

Amortisation of non-current assets - 

- 	380 	505 

380 505 - 	380 505 

Operating lease rental expenses: 

Minimum lease payments 1,397 1,387 	- - 	1,397 1,387 

1,397 1,387 	- - 	1,397 1,387 

Employee benefit expense: 

Share based payment expense - 7 	- - 	- 7 

Post employment benefits: 

Defined contribution plans 459 393 	- - 	459 393 

Other employee benefit 6,836 6,105 	- - 	6,836 6,105 

Total employee benefit expenses 7,295 6,498 	- - 	7,295 6,498 

Finance lease interest expenses 10 6 	- - 	10 6 
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8. 	INCOME TAXES 

(a) 	Income tax recognised in profit or loss 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

Us$1000 uS$'000 

Tax expense comprises: 

Current tax expense in respect of the current year 1,000 624 

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years 95 298 

Deferred tax expense relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences - 1 

Total tax expense 1,095 923 

Attributable to: 

Continuing operations 1,095 923 

Discontinued operations (note 25) - - 
1,095 923 

The prima fade income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profit from operations 

reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial statements as follows: 

Profit from continuing operations 9,014 3,006 

Loss from discontinuing operations - - 
Profit from operations 9,014 3,006 

Income tax expense calculated at 30% 2,704 901 

Efiect of revenue that is exempt from taxation - - 
Effect of expenses that are not deductible/asessable in determining taxable profit (624) 398 
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOR THE HNANOAL YEAR ENDED 30 J'JNE 2010 

8. 	INCOME TAXES (cont'd) 

(a) 	Income tax recognised in profit or loss 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

us$,000 us$'000 

Effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (314) — 

Effect of tax losses not recognised 132 — 

Effects of tax concessions (i) 348 (280) 

Effects of tax exempt income (24) (19) 

Effects of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdiction (1,111) (545) 

Utilisation of tax losses of a related company (121) — 

Deferred tax assets not recognised — 170 

990 623 

Other 10 — 

1,000 623 

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years 95 298 

Income tax expense recognised in profit 1,095 923 

(i) One of the subsidiary companies, Ghim Li Global Pte Ltd was awarded the Global Trader Program status for a period of 5 years from 

1 January 2003. The Global Trader Program status was subsequently renewed and extended for another 5 years with effect from 

1 January 2008. Subject to the terms and conditions prescribed by the Income Tax Act of Singapore and the Global Trader Program, 

income derived from qualifying trading transactions is taxed at the concessionary rate of 10%. 

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities on taxable prohts under 

Australian tax law. There has been no change in the corporate tax rate when compared with the previous reporting period. However, for the 

purposes of tax reconciliation, certain subsidiaries were operating in Singapore and Hlong Kong, in which these entities are taxable at the 

respective local tax rates. 

The Singapore government announced on 15 February 2007 that the corporate income tax rate will be changed from 20% to 18% with effect 

from the Year of Assessment 2008 after which on 22nd January 2009 there is another corporate tax reduction from 18% to 17% for Year of 

Assessment 2010 onwards. 

The Hong Kong government has announced on 27 February 2008 that the corporate income tax rate will be changed from 17.5% to 16.5% 

with effect from the Year of Assessment 2009. 
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8. 	INCOME TAXES (cont'd) 

(b) 	Current tax assets and liabilities 

Consolidated 

2010 	2009 

uS$1000 uS$'OoO 

Current tax liabilities 

Income tax payable attributable to entities in the consolidated group 

(C) 	Deferred tax balances 

Deferred tax liability arise from the following: 

P itgj (CI.]Ooio clD2HJ 

Temporary differences 

Property, plant and equipment 	 87 	- 	- 

	

87 	- 	 - 

Unused tax loses and other credits: 

Nil 	 - 	- 	- 

	

1,049 	750 

	

1,049 	750 

1F 	incfl ( 

- 	- 	87 

- 	- 	- 	87 

87 	- 	 - 	 - 	- 	- 	87 

Presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

Deferred tax liability 
	

87 
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8. 	INCOME TAXES (cont'd) 

(c) 	Deferred tax balances (cont'd) 

Temporary differences 

Property, plant and equipment 	 86 	1 - 	 - 	- 	87 

Financial guarantee 	 43 	- 	(43) 	 - 	 - 

Share based payment 	 (63) 	(7) 	70 	 - 	- 	- 

	

66 	(6) 	27 	- 	- 	- 	87 

Unused tax loses and other credits: 

Nil 	 - 	- 	 - 	- 	- 	- 

	

66 	(6) - 	27 	- 	- 	- 	87 

Presented in the statement offnancial position as follows: 

Deferred tax liability 

Unrecogriised deferred tax assets 

The following deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as assets: 

Tax losses - revenue 

Temporary differences 

87 

Consolidated 

2010 

US$'OOO 

2009 

US$'OOO 

- 
81 

571 

162 

81 733 
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8. 	INCOME TAXES (cont'd) 

(b) 	Current tax assets and liabilities (cont'd) 

Unrecognised taxable temporary differences associated with investments and interests 

Consolidated 

	

2010 	2009 

US$1000 	US$'000 

Taxable temporary differences in relation to investments in subsidiaries, 

branches and associates and interest in joint ventures for which deferred 

tax liabilities have not been recognised are attributable to the following: 

Subsidiaries 	 - 	 - 

The Group has no current intention to dispose of these investments; a deferred tax liability has not been recognised 

in relation to investments within the tax-consolidated group. Furthermore, temporary differences that might arise 

on disposal of the entities in the tax-consolidated group cannot be reliably measured because of the inherent 

uncertainties surrounding the nature of any future disposal that might occur. 

9. 	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

US$'OoO US$'OOO 

39,208 19,043 

28,088 42,684 

16,223 8,454 

1,945 1,844 

(149) (2,947) 

85,315 69,078 

(21,073) (9,954) 

(7,129) (9,162) 

(30,662) (24,100) 

(3,669) (5,904) 

22,782 19,958 

37 36 

22,819 19,994 

Trade receivables 

Third parties (i) 

Other party- GLIT group (ii) 

Related Parties (H) 

Other receivables 

Allowance for doubtful debts (iii) 

Less: 

Payable to Other Party- GLIT group (H) 

Bills Payable (i) 

Trust Receipts related to Other party- GLIT group (H) 

Trust Receipts related to Related Parties (H) 

Goods and services tax recoverable 
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9. 	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont'd) 

(I) 	Third parties offset: When ALA receives an order from a customer; it either receives a letter of credit or an open account for the 

customer. Upon completion of the order, ALA converts this letter of credit or open account into a bill payable with a bank. ALA will 

then use the cash to pay its creditors. When the letter of credit matures or the customer pays off the open account, the bank will 

offset funds from the third party trade receivable against bills payable. ALA immediately has a legally enforceable right to offset the 

amounts owed by Other Party - ALIT and settle the balance, if any, with Other Party - ALIT on a net basis. 

(H) 	Other party- ALIT Group and Related Parties offsets: Presently and reflected in the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2010 

when Other Party-ALIT Group buys fabric from textile mills ALA issues a letter of credit on their behalf. In order to maximize the 

discourts available, ALA converts for the letter of credit it has issued into a Trust Receipt. 

The bank will immediately pay the textile mill. After completion of the apparel order, Other Party- ALIT invoices ALG and a trade 

payable is recorded. ALA immediately has a legally enforceable right to offset the amount owed by Other Party- ALIT and settle the 

balance, if any, with Other Party- ALIT on a net basis. 

The offset takes place between 90 days to 120 days depending on the date of maturity of theTrust Receipt. A similar offset arrangement 

has been made with Related Parties transactions. 

(Hi) For the full year ended 30 June 2010 the detailed recoverability assessment for Other Party — ALIT group receivable demonstrated the 

ability to reverse the impairment of US$2,500 thousand which was recorded at 30 June 2009. 

Refer also to Note 10 (i) for details of the Ghim Li Group Pte Ltd guarantee issued in respect of the other party-GLIT 

Group receivable. 

The average credit period on sales of goods and rendering of services is 60 days. No interest is charged on the trade 

receivables outstanding balance. 

Before accepting any new customers, the Group uses an external scoring system to assess the potential customer's 

credit quality and defines credit limits by customers. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice 

a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have the best credit scoring attributable 

under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. Of the trade receivables balance at the end of the year, 

$9.1 million (2009: $2.5 million) is due from Macy the Group's largest customer. 
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9. 	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont'd) 

Aqeing of past due but not impaired 

60 - 90 days 

90-120 days 

More than 120 days 

Total 

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts 

Balance at the beginning of the year 

Allowance made during the year 

Reversal of impairment - GLIT 

Reversal of provision for doubtful debts 

Balance at the end of the year 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

US$1000 US$'000 

1,152 436 

13 343 

339 148 

1,504 927 

2,947 77 

- 2,870 

(2,500) - 
(119) - 
328 2,947 

Includes the provision for doubtful debts for trade receivables and other financial assets. 

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the 

trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk 

is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated, Accordingly, the Directors believe that there is no 

further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts. 
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10. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

US$1000 US$'OOO 

Loans carried at amortised cost (i): 

Current 

Trade receivables 	Other Party GLIT group (i)(a)(b) - 2,580 

Total current other financial assets - 2,580 

Non current 

Trade receivables - Other Party CL T group (9(a) 18,200 2,505 

Trade receivables - Thrd partes (ii) 179 2,062 

18,379 4,567 

Provision for Bad Debts (1 79) 

Total non current other financial assets 18,200 4,567 

(I) 	The loans owed by Other Party CLII Group consist of two amounts: 

US$1,802 thousand ( Y2009: US$3,368 thousand) which is the equivalent of a SG$5,000 thousand denominated receivab e 

repayablc over a period of 48 months at a Oxed interest rate of 5.00°o p.a. commencing June 2009. 

US$16,398 thousand (P52009: US$ Nil) has been classiffied as nonwurrent receivables as S is not expected to be received within the 

next twe ye months. 

Ghim L Group Pte Ltd has guaranteed the repayment of both amounts in the current and non current receivables owirg by Other 

Party - CLII to GLG Corp in the event of a default by Other Party CLII. This guarantee is in the form of three undertakings. The #rst, 

commtted Ghm C Group Pte Ltd to return the proceeds from any sale of GLG Corp Ltd shares by Gbim Li Group Pte Ltd to GLG Corp Ltd 

for the outstanding receivables owed by Other Party - CLII. The second requires GUT Holdings to pledge a factory (and its associated 

assets) owned by GL I Holdings located in Brunei to GLG Corp Ltd. The thrd requires Estina Ang Suan Hong, the Executive Cha rman/ 

CEO of GLG Corp to commt to a personal p edge of US$10 muon. 

(i) The long term trade receivable owed by third party has been fully provided for in P52010 (P52009: US$2,062 thousand). 
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11. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

US$1000 US$'000 

Investments in jointly controlled entities - 39 

Reconciliation of movement in investments accounted for using the equity method 

Balance at 1 July 2009 39 - 
Share of losses for the year (39) (254) 

(254) 

Additions - 293 

Balanceat3OJune2olo - 39 

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's jointly controlled entity is set Out below 

Consolidated 

2010 	2009 

US$1000 	US$'OOO 

Financial position: 

Current assets 2,005 	249 

Current liabilities 1,814 	172 

Net assets 191 

Group's share of jointly controlled entity's net assets 98 	39 

Financial performance: 

Income 	 10,303 	1,926 

Expenses 	 10,396 	2,412 

Total loss for investment in joint venture 	 (93) 	(486) 

Group's share of jointly controlled entity's losses 	 (47) 	(254) 

The entity's unrecognised share of losses for the period is US$8 thousand (2009: US$6 thousand) 
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Gross carrying amount 

Balance at 1 July 2008 308 85 3,593 458 4,444 

Addtions 10 103 113 

Disposals (42) - (39) (273) (354) 

Balance at 1 July 2009 276 85 3,657 185 4,203 

Additions - 289 183 472 

Disposals (267) (10) (191) (468) 

Balance at 30 June 2010 9 85 3,936 177 4,207 

Accumulated depreciation/ 

amortisation and impairment 

Balance at 1 July2008 215 53 2,360 349 2,977 

Disposals (40) - (29) (244) (313) 

Depreciaton expense 15 8 418 63 504 

Balance at 1 July 2009 190 61 2,749 168 3,168 

Disposals (190) (10) (190) (390) 

Depreciation expense 6 8 327 38 379 

Balance at30iune20l0 6 69 3,066 16 3,157 

Net book value 

Asat30June2009 86 24 908 17 1,035 

As at 3OJune 2010 3 16 870 161 1,050 

There was no depreciation during the year that was capitalsed as part of the cost of other assets 
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Consolidated 

2010 

Us$1000 

2009 

us$'000 

226 268 

Consolidated 

2010 

uS$1000 

2009 

us$'oOo 

1119 

43 

3870 

840 

16 

90 

1,889 

5,032 2,835 

Current 

Prepayments 

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Trade payables (I) 

Other payables 

Related parties 

Accruals 

NOTES TO THE 
FINIANCM 
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13. OTHERASSETS 

(I) The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 4 months. No interest is charged on the outstanding balance of trade 

payables. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit time frame. 
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15. BORROWINGS 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

uS$1000 US$'OOO 

Secured - at amortised cost 

Current 

Bank Overdraft 9 279 

Bank loans (() (H) 982 1522 

Trust receipts (Gross) 	(i) (Hi) 34,331 30,003 

Bills payable (Gross) (iv) 7,129 9,162 

Finance lease liabilities 90 35 

42,541 41,001 

Less Trust receipt-offsettable (34,331) (30,003) 

Less Bill payable-offsettable (7,129) (9,162) 

Total current borrowings 1,081 1,836 

Non-current 

Bank loans (i) (H) 1,802 2,573 

Finance lease liabilities 203 45 

Total non-current borrowings 2,005 2,618 

Disclosed in the financial statements as: 

Current borrowings 1,081 1,836 

Non-current borrowings 2,005 2,618 

3,086 4,454 

(i) 	Secured by corporate guarantee from Gbim Li Group Pte Ltd and negative pledge over all assets of Ghim Li Global We Ltd. 

(i i) The non current borrowings consist of a term loan of us$2,784 thousand (2009: US$3,368 thousand) which is repayable by a reducing 

balance method of48 monthly average installments of US$1 15 thousand (30 June 2009: nil).The average eftective interest rate charge 

is 5% per annum. 

Trust Receipts not offsettable uS$ nil thousand (30 June 2009: nil thousand); Trust Receipts offsettable US$34,331 thousand (30 June 

2009: US$30,003 thousand). See note 9. 

Bills payable not offsettable US$ nil (30 June 2009: USSniD; Bills payable offsettable US$7,129 thousand (30 June 2009: US$9,162 

thousand). See note 9. 

Banking relationship: the Group is dependent on bankfacilities to support the working capital requirement of its operations. Presently, 

the bank facilities provided to the Group are uncommitted short term trade financing facilities which are renewable annually by the 

banks. At 30 June 2010 GLG corp Ltd had financing facilities available of US$105.5 million (US$58.1 million was used and US$47.2 

milion is unused).This is compared with US$88.5 million at 30 June 2009 (US$43.3 million was used and US$45.2 million was unused). 

GLG continued to have the strong support of its core banking relationship for its working capital requirements. GLG has largely 

completed the sourcing of additional bank facilities from Singapore based banks if there is a need to replace facilities from banks who 

because of capital and credit risk constraints, may limit or suspend their corporate lending business. 
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15. BORROWINGS (cont'cI) 

The weighted average effective interest rates for bank overdrafts, bills payable and trust receipts at the balance 

sheet date were as follows: 

Bank overdrafts 

Bank loans 

Trust receipts 

Finance lease liabilities 

Bills payable 

2010 

US prime rate 

6.82% pa. 

1- 5mths US SIBOR + (1 .50% -2.25%) 

5.20%p.a. 

US SIBOR/LIBOR H- 1.35% - 3.75% 

2009 

US prime rate 

5.12% - 7.32%p.a. 

1- 5mths US SIBOR + (1.50% -2.25%) 

5.04%p.a. 

2.89% 

16. ISSUED CAPITAL 

74,100,000 (2009: 74,100,000) fully paid ordinary shares 

Consolidated 

	

2010 	2009 
US$1000 US$'OOO 

	

10,322 	10,322 

Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share 

capital from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued 

shares do not have a par value. 

Consolidated 

No. 2010 No. 2009 
1000 US$'OOO 1000 US$'OOo 

Fully paid ordinary shares 

Balance at beginning of financial year 74,100 10,322 74,100 10,252 

Transfer from share based payment reserve - - 70 

Balance at end of financial year 74,100 10,322 74,100 10,322 
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RESERVES 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

uS$1000 uS$'000 

Share based payment reserve - 
Financial guarantees reserve - 3 

- 3 

Share based payment reserve 

Balance at beginning of financial year - 63 

Transfer from share based payment reserve - (70) 

Share based payment recognition 7 

Balance at end of financial year - - 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

us$1000 uS$'Ooo 

Financial guarantees reserve 

Balance at beginning of financial year 3 81 

Financial guarantees fee recognition (3) (78) 

Balance at end of financial year - 3 

RETAINED EARNINGS 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

uS$1000 US$'oOO 

Balance at beginning of financial year 16,835 14,752 

Net profit attributable to members of the parent entity 7,920 2,083 

Dividends provided for or paid - - 
Balance at end of financial year 24,755 16,835 
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19. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

Cents per Cents per 
share share 

Basic earnings per share: 

From continuing operations 10.69 2.81 

From discontinued operations - - 
Total basic earnings per share 10.69 2.81 

Diluted earnings per share: 

From continuing operations 10.69 2,81 

From discontinued operations - - 
Total diluted earnings per share 10.69 2.81 

Basic earnings per share 

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 

are as follows: 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

uS$1000 uS$1000 

Net profit 7,920 2,083 

Earnings used in the calculation of basic EPS 7,920 2,083 

Adjustments to exclude loss for the period from discontinued operations - - 
Earnings used in the calculation of basic EPS from continuing operations 7,920 2,083 

2010 	2009 

No.'OOO 	No.'OOO 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes 

of basic earnings per share 	 74,100 	74,100 
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19. EARNINGS PER SHARE (cont'd) 

Diluted earnings per share 

The earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share is as follows 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

uS$1000 US$'000 

Net profit 7,920 2,083 

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted EPS 7,920 2,083 

Adjustments to exclude loss for the period from discontinued operations - - 
Earnings used in the calculation of diluted EPS from continuing operations 7,920 2,083 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

No.'OOO No.'OOO 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic EPS 74,100 74,100 

Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect of: 

Employee options - - 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted EPS 74,100 74,100 
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DIVIDENDS 

2010 	 2009 

Cents per 	Total 	Cents per 	Total 
share 	US$'OOO 	share 	US$'OOO 

Recognised amounts 

Fully paid ordinary shares 

Proposed final fully unfranked ordinary dividend 

Unrecognised amounts 

In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2010, the Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend. 

COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 

Lease commitments 

Finance lease liabilities and non-cancelable operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 23 to the financial 

statements. 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Consolidated 

2010 	2009 

US$1000 US$'OoO 

Guarantees in lieu of commercial and statutory cash deposits 	 2,578 	2,274 

Guarantees arising from Letters of credit in force 	 12,819 	6,219 

Legal fees in dispute 	 - 	175 

Total 	 15,397 	8,668 
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23. LEASES 

Finance lease liabilities 

Leasing arrangement 

The Group leases motor vehicles and office equipment under finance leases expiring from one to five years. All the 

leases involve lease payments of a fixed base amount. No contingent rentals were paid during the year (2009: nil). 

No later than 1 year 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 

Later than 5 years 

Minimum future lease paymento* 

Less future finance charges 

Present value of minimum lease payments 

Included in the financial statements as (note 15) 

Current borrowings 

Non-current borrowings 

2010 

uS$1000 

2009 

uS$'OOO 

2010 

uS$'OoO 

2009 

Us$'OOO 

105 38 90 35 

223 48 203 45 

328 86 293 80 

(35) (6) - - 
293 80 293 80 

	

90 	35 

	

203 	45 

	

293 	80 

-X 	Minimum future lease payments include the aggregate of all lease payments and any guaranteed residual. 

operating leases 

Leasing arrangement 

The Group leases property under operating leases expiring from one to five years. Leases generally provide the 

Group with a right of renewal, at which time all terms are renegotiated. Operating leases for rental of office and 

warehouse will increase every 3 years at the rate of 9%. No contingent rentals were paid during the year (2009: nil). 

Note 7 shows the expense recognised in the income statement in respect of operating leases. Renewals are at the 

option of the specific entity that holds the lease. 
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LEASES (cont'd) 

Non-cancellable operating lease payments 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

US$1000 US$'000 

Not longer than 1 year 1,367 1,161 

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 3,123 3,774 

Longer than 5 years - -- 

4,490 4,935 

SUBSIDIARIES 

Ownership interest 

2010 2009 
Name of subsidiary Country of incorporation % 
Escala Guatemala S.A. Republic of Guatemala - 100 

Ghim Li Global Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 

Ghim Li Global International Ltd Hong Kong 100 100 

Escala Fashion Pte. Ltd. (formerly known as Singapore 100 100 

GG Textiles Co. Pte Ltd) 

Ghim Li International (S) Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

Consolidated 

2010 

US$1000 

2009 

US$'OOO 

2,031 6,762 

2,031 6,762 

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOF THE HNANUJAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY 

On 21 December 2009, GLG Corp Ltd disposed of Escala Guatemala S.A. The proceeds on disposal of US$1,950 

thousand were received in cash. 

The profit/(Ioss) for the period from the discontinued operation is anlaysed as follows. 

Consolidated 

2010 	2009 

US$1000 	US$'000 

Revenue - 	- 
Operating expenses - 	- 
Profit before income tax - 	- 
Income tax expense/(credit) - 	- 
Profit after tax - 	- 

Net assets disposed of 1,950 	 - 
1,950 	 - 

Gain on disposal - 	- 
Total consideration 1,950 

Satisfied by cash, and net cash inflow arising on disposal - 	1,950 	 - 

No gain was recognized on the disposal of Escala Guatemala S.A. No tax charge or credit arose on the transaction 

NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

(a) 	Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in 

banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash 

equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to the related 

items in the balance sheet as follows: 
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26. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT (cont'd) 

(b) 	Financing facilities 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 
uS$1000 uS$'000 

Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call: 

Amount used - 279 

Amount unused - 110 

- 389 

Secured bank loan facilities with various maturity dates and which may be 
extended by mutual agreement: 

amount used 58,117 43261 

amount unused 47,364 45,241 

105,481 88,502 

(c) 	Reconciliation of profit for the period to net cash flows from operating activities 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 
uS$1000 uS$'Ooo 

Profit for the year 7,920 2,083 

Gain on sale or disposal of non-current assets (345) (73) 

Impairment expense - 2,800 

Reversal of impairment (2500) - 
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 380 505 

Provision for doubtful debt 10 - 
Share of losses of jointly controlled entities 39 254 

Non-cash movements in financial guarantee liabilities and 

equity settled share-based payment (3) 70 

Non-cash dividends received - - 
lncrease/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities - (154) 

Interest expenses 1,021 - 
Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects from 
acquisition and disposal of businesses: 

(lncrease)/decrease in assets: 

Inventories 35 

Trade and other receivables 3,220 (4,307) 

Other assets 128 (82) 

lncrease/(decrease) in liabilities: 

Trade and other payables 2,244 (659) 

Other liabilities - (20) 

Net cash from operating activities 12,149 417 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(a) 	Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 

while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 

Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from 2009. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 15, 

cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, 

reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in notes 16, 17 and 18 respectively. In addition, trust receipts are 

utilized as disclosed in note 9 in managing the capital of the Group. 

Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand the group's assets, as well as to make the routine 

outflows of tax and repayment of maturing debt. The Group's policy is to borrow centrally, using of variety of 

capital market issues and borrowing facilities, to meet anticipated funding requirements. 

Gearing ratio 

An integral function of the Group's Board is risk management. The Board reviews the capital structure on a 

semi-annual basis. As part of this review the Board considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with 

each class of capital. The Group's gearing is managed internally to meet industry norms. GLG Corp Ltd, as 

disclosed in earlier notes 9 and 15, has the ability to offset trust receipts with receivables due to the nature of 

their operations, which has the effect of reducing apparent debt levels. The operation of the trust receipts is 

detailed in note 9. Based on recommendations of the Board the Group will balance its overall capital structure 

through the payment of dividends as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. 

The gearing ratio at year end was as follows: 

Debt (I) 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Net debt 

Equity (ii) 

Net debt to equity ratio 

(i) 	Debt is defUned as long-term and sHort-term borrowings, as detailed in note 15. 

(U) 	Equity includes all capital and reserves. 

Consolidated 

2010 

US$'000 

2009 

US$1000 

3,086 

(2,031) 

4,454 

(6,762) 

1,055 (2,308) 

	

35,077 	27,160 

	

3.01 % 	(8.50%) 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd) 

Categories of financial instruments 

Consolidated 

2010 	2009 

uS$1000 US$'000 

Financial assets 

Loans and receivables 	 41017 	27,141 

Cash and cash equivalents 	 2,031 	6,762 

Financial liabilities 

Amortised cost 	 8,118 	7,289 

(c) 	Financial risk management objectives 

The Group co-ordinates access to domestic and international financial markets, and manages the financial 

risks relating to the operations of the consolidated entity. 

The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, 

for speculative purposes. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the consolidated entity's policies 

approved by the board of directors, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives. 

Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by the internal auditors on a continuous basis. 

The Group's activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange 

rates and interest rates. The Group minimises its financial risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rate 

through the natural hedge of matching its revenues and purchases in US dollars and matching of its assets 

and liabilities in US dollars. 

Foreign currency risk management 

The Group minimises its financial risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rate through the natural 

hedge of matching a significant portion of its revenues and purchases in US dollars and matching a significant 

portion of its assets and liabilities in US dollars. The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated 

in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are 

managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward foreign exchange contracts. 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd) 

(d) 	Foreign currency risk management (cont'd) 

The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities 

at the reporting date is as follows: 

Liabilities 
	

Assets 

2010 	2009 
	

2010 	2009 

us$1000 us$'000 Us$1000 us$'000 

Singapore dollars 	 3,054 5,353 779 3,702 

Hong Kong dollars 	 32 70 45 149 

Other 	 143 271 182 86 

3,229 5,693 1,006 3,937 

The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities 

at the reporting date is as follows: 

Liabilities 
	

Assets 

2010 	2009 
	

2010 	2009 

US$1000 US$'OOO us$1000 Us$'ooO 

Singapore dollars 	 - 	209 	 - 	 - 

Other 	 123 	123 	121 	50 

	

123 	332 	121 	50 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

The Group is mainly exposed to movements in the value of Singapore dollars and Hong Kong dollars 

compared to the US dollar. 

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the United States dollar 

against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk 

internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the possible change 

in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 

monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. 

The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where 

the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A 

positive number indicates an increase in profit or loss where the United States dollars strengthens against 

the respective currency. For a weakening of the United States dollars against the respective currency there 

would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit, and the balances below would be negative. 

GLO COIG' L.L) ANNUAL ArRow 2010 8 1. 



NOTES TO THE 
FINTANCIAL 
SMS 
FORTHF NANEIAL YEAR END[D 30 JUNE 7010 

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd) 

(d) 	Foreign currency risk management (cont'd) 

Singapore dollars 

Impact 

Consolidated 

	

2010 	2009 

uS$1000 	US$'ooO  

Hong Kong dollars 

Impact 

Consolidated 

2010 	2009 

uS$1000 uS$'Ooo 

Other Foreign Currency 

Impact 

Consolidated 

2010 	2009 

uS$1000 uS$'oOo 

ProOt or loss 
	

455 	165 	(3) 	8 	(9) 	22 

Interest rate risk management 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating 

interest rates. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and 

floating rate borrowings. Hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with interest rate views and 

define risk appetite; ensuring optimal hedging strategies are applied, by either positioning the balance sheet 

or protecting interest expense through different interest rate cycles. 

The Group's exposure to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity 

risk management section of this note. 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rate's for both 

derivative and non-derivative instruments at the reporting date and the stipulated change taking place 

at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period. A 50 basis point 

increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and 

represents management's assessment of the possible change in interest rates. 

At reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held 

constant, the Group's: 

net profit would increase by $10 thousand and decrease by $15 thousand (2009: increase by $59 

thousand and decrease by $21 thousand).This is mainly attributable to the Group's exposure to interest 

rates on its variable rate borrowings. 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd) 

Credit risk management 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 

loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and 

obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from 

defaults. The Group exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the 

aggregate values of transactions concluded are spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure 

is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee annually. The 

Group measures credit risk on a fair value basis 

Trade accounts receivable consist of a number of retail customers located in the United States of America. 

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where 

appropriate, trading within the credit limits or discounting of receivables on non-recourse basis with credit 

acceptance or insurance in place. 

The consolidated entity does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any 

group of counterparties having similar characteristics except to the GLIT receivable as disclosed in Note 

10. This is supported by the guarantees in Note 10. The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial 

instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international 

credit-rating agencies. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 

represents the consolidated entity's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of 

any collateral obtained. 

The Company also faces risks of orders cancellation. This is related to fabric, accessories and manufacturing 

cost incurred on orders cancelled prior to shipment. The company is now exploring credit insurance to cover 

this risk as well. 

Liquidity risk management 

The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and 

reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the 

maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Included in note 27(b) is a listing of additional undrawn 

facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk. 

Liquidity and interest risk tables 

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial assets 

and liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial assets and 

liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to receive/pay. The table includes 

both interest and principal cash flows. 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd) 

(g) 	Liquidity and interest risk tables 

Consolidated 

2010 

Financial Assets 

Interest bearing 

Non-interest bearing 	 - 	 2,031 	39,912 	1,504 	- 	18,200 

Financial Liabilities 

Non-interest bearing - 5,032 - - - 	- 
Finance lease liability 5.20% 8 24 58 203 	- 
Fixed interest rate instruments-bank 

Loan (UOB & IFS) 6.82% 98 297 587 1,802 	- 

2009 

Financial Assets 

Interest bearing 2.70% 6,762 2,580 - - 	2,505 

Non-interest bearing - 20,264 436 343 	148 

Financial Liabilities 

Non-interest bearing - 2,835 - - - 	- 
Finance lease liability 5.04% 3 6 26 51 	- 
Fixed interest rate instruments-bank loan 7.32% 128 259 1,135 2,573 	- 

The variable interest rates were as follows 

2010 	 2009 

Other receivables 	 SIBOR -i- 1% 	 SIBOR + 1% 

Bank loans 	 6.82% p.a. 	 5.12% - 7.32% 

Finance lease liabilities 	 5.20%p.a 	 5.04%p,a 

Trust receipts 	 1- Smths US SIBOR + (1% -2.25%). 	1- Smths US SIBOR + (1% -2.25%). 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd) 

(h) 	Fair value of financial instruments 

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the 

financial statements approximates their fair values. 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 

the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded 

on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices. 

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

in respect of each independent director, upon listing of the Company, Gbim Li Group Pte Ltd (ultimate parent 

entity of GLG Corp Ltd) agreed to assign 300,000 shares to an escrow agent on or before 1 1 October 2006. Each 

Independent Director is entitled to receive up to 100,000 of these CLG Corp Ltd shares for nil consideration, 

receivable as follows: 

Upon the first anniversary of their appointment 	33,333 shares for 1 year's continuous service as a Director 

Upon the second anniversary of their appointment 	33,333 shares for 2 year's continuous service as a Director 

Upon the third anniversary of their appointment 	33,333 shares for 3 year's continuous service as a Director 

The purpose of the share options are to: 

Provide long term incentive to each independent director to remain with the group 

Improve the long term performance of the Company 

There is an arrangement between GLG Corp Ltd and Ghim Li Group Pte Ltd whereby GLG Corp Ltd compensates 

Chim Li Group Pte Ltd for the fair value of the share options, as determined at grant date when the shares are 

transferred to the independent directors of GLG Corp Ltd 

The following share based payment arrangements were in existence during the current and comparative period: 

Issued Il October 2006 100,000 14/12/05 11/10/06 0.74 

Issued 11 October 2007 100,000 14/12/05 11/10/07 	 - 0.74 

Issued 11 October 2008 100,000 14/12/05 11/10/08 	 - 0.74 
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont'd) 

The following reconciles the outstanding share options granted under the share option plan at the beginning and 

end of the financial year: 

2010 
	

2009 

Balance at beginning of financial year 

Granted during the financial year 

Forfeited during the financial year 

Exercised during the financial year 

Balance at end of the financial year 

Exercisable at end of the financial year 

Weighted 	 Weighted 

Number of 	average 	Number of average 

	

Options 	exercise price 	Options exercise price 

	

- 	 - 	166,667 	 - 

	

- 	- 	166,667 	 - 

Exercised during the financial year 

Nil options exercised during 2010. 

t -------  - 	- -- - Ii 

(3) Issued 11 October 2008 	 99,999 	 1 9/6/09 

99,999 

Balance at end of the financial year 

There a nil share options outstanding as at 30 June 2010 (2009: nil). 
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Short-term employee benefits 

Post-employment benefits 

Share-based payments 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 

uss uss 

1,138,598 866,167 

39,518 18,554 

- 7,017 

1,178,116 891,738 

NOTES TO THE 
FIXAACIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOR THE UNANCIAL YEAR ENL)ED 30 JUNE TWO 

29. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of the key management personnel of the 

Company and the Group is set out below: 

The compensation of each member of the key management personnel of the Group is set out in the director's report: 

(a) 	Key management personnel compensation policy 

In relation to senior management the Nomination and Remuneration committee reviews remuneration policies 

and practices and makes recommendations to the Board regarding their approval. In relation to the Executive 

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

determinesand makes recommendationstothe Board on remuneration packages and othertermsofemployment 

having regard to the need to attract, retain and develop appropriately skilled people. Remuneration of the senior 

management team is reviewed on an annual basis having regard to personal and corporate performance and 

relevant comparative information. 

The remuneration of non-executive directors may not exceed in aggregate in any financial period the amount 

fixed by the Company at the general meeting. Each executive director of the Company has entered into a service 

agreement with Gbim Li Global Pte Ltd. They are not remunerated separately for being a Director or executive 

of the Company or other operating entities. Each executive director receives a salary per annum. They may also 

be entitled to an annual bonus determined by the Nomination and Remuneration committee, in its absolute 

discretion. Each key management personnel also receives a salary per annum and may also be entitled to an 

annual bonus determined by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman, reviewed by the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee, and approved by the Board at the Board's absolute discretion. 
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCM 
STATEMENTS 
rot THE FINANCI!ALY[AR [NDLD 30 iLNL 2010 

29. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION (cont'd) 

(a) 	Key management personnel compensation policy (cont'd) 

Details of key management personnel 

The Directors of GLG Corp Ltd during the year were: 

Estina Ang Suan Hong (Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 

Samuel Scott Weiss (Nonexecutive Deputy Chairman and Independent Director) 

Christopher Chong Meng Tak (Independent Director) 

Ernest Seowleng Peng (Independent Director) 

Yong Yin Mm (Director) 

Eu Mun Leong (resigned on 11 January 2010) 

Surina Gan Meng Hui (appointed on 11 January 2010) 

Other key management personnel of GLG Corp Ltd during the year were: 

Agnes Ng Moi Ngw (Senior VO Product Sourcing & Business Development) (resigned on 2 March 2010) 

Felicia Gan Peiling (Director - Retail Group) 

Alice Chong (Acting Chief Financial Officer) 

No director or senior management person appointed during the period received a payment as part of his or her 

consideration for agreeing to hold the position. 
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NOTES TO THE 
FTNAACIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FORTHE FINANCIALYEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Equity interests in subsidiaries 

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 24 to the financial 

statements 

Transactions with key management personnel 

(i) 	Key management personnel remuneration 

Details of key management personnel remuneration are disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements. 

Key management personnel equity holdings 

Fully paid ordinary shares of GLG Corp Ltd 

2010 

Estina Ang Suan Hong 54,560,003 	- - 	54,560,003 

Samuel Scott Weiss 119,999 - 	- 	119,999 

EuMunLeong 116,000 - 	116,000 

Christopher Chong Menglak 99,999 	- - 	- 	99,999 

Ernest Seowleng Peng 99,999 	- - 	- 	99,999 

2009 

Estina Ang Suan Hong 54,726,668 	- - 	(166,665) 	54,560,003 

Samuel Scott Weiss 86,666 	- 33,333 	 - 	119,999 

EuMunLeong 116,000 	- - 	- 	116,000 

Christopher Chong Menglak 33,333 	- 66,666 	 - 	99,999 

Ernest Seowleng Peng 33,333 	- 66,666 	 - 	99,999 
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NOTES TO fl[E 
FINX-NICIAL 
STATEMENTS 
tORTI 3 [UNANCIA. Y3AR ENDLL) 30 JUNE 00 

30. 	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont'd) 

(b) 	Transactions with key management personnel (cont'd) 

Share options of GLG Corp Ltd 

_________________ N) 	rtc 

2010 

Samuel Scott V\.'eiss 33,333 - 	- - 	- 	- - 	33,333 

Christopher Chong McngTak 33,333 	- - 	- - 	- 	- 33,333 

Ernest SeowTeng Peng 33,333 	- - 	- - 	- 	- - 	33,333 

2009 

Samuel Scott Weiss 33,333 	- (33,333) 	- - 	- 	- - 	33,333 

Christopher Chong Meng iNk 33,333 	- (66,666) 	- - 	- 	- - 	33,333 

Ernest Scow Teng Peng 66,666 	- (66,666) 	- - 	- 	- - 	33,333 

All share options issued to key management personnel were made in accordance with the provisions of the 

employee share option plan. 

During the financial year nil options (2009: 166,665) were exercised by key management personnel. No amounts 

remain unpaid on the options exercised during the financial year at year end. 

(c) 	Transactions with other related parties 

Other related parties include: 

the parent entity, GLG Group Ltd; 

JESAppareILLC 

subsidiaries of the group; and 

key management personnel of Ghim Li Group Pte Ltd. 

No amounts were provided for doubtful debts relating to debts due from related parties at reporting date. 

Amounts receivable from and payable to these related parties are disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE 
FIXAACM 
STATEMENTS 
FOETHE HNANGAL YEAR ENDE[) 30 JUNE 2010 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont'd) 

Transactions involving other related parties 

(d) 	Parent entities 

The parent entity in the Group is GLG Corp Ltd. GLG Corp Ltd's parent entity and the ultimate parent entity is 

Ghim Li Group Pte Ltd. Ghim Li Group Pte Ltd is incorporated in Singapore. 

Chairman - Estina Ang Suan Hong 

The major shareholder and Chairman has personally undertake to guarantee the repayment of other party GLIT 

USS 10 million as disclosed in note 10. 

In addition GLG has director loan from Chairman of US$898 thousand in financial year 2010 with a payable at 30 

June 2010 of US$898 thousand. 

ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY 

The consolidated entity is sourcing its apparel manufacturing requirements mainly from the GLIT entities. The economic 

dependency of this arrangement is protected by the long term contracts between the GLIT entities and the consolidated 

entity which has first right of refusal for the production capacity of the GLIT entities. 
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NOTES TO THE 
FENANCtU, 
STATEMENTS 
I OR IH3 HNANOAI. YF.Rfl FN[3W 30 JUNL 203 

32. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

Consolidated 

2010 2009 
Uss Uss 

Auditor of the parent entity 

Audit or review of the financial report 203,791 98,540 

Tax services 4,468 4,683 

Other non- audit services - 
208,259 103,223 

Related Practice of the parent entity auditor 

Audit or review of the subsidiaries 350,218 159,185 

Preparation of the tax return of subsidiaries 116,844 9,354 

467,062 168,539 

The auditor of GLG Corp Ltd is Deloitte Touche Tohrnatsu. 

The related practices are Deloitte &Touche Singapore, Deloitte &Touche Guatemala, Deloitte &Touche Hong Kong, 
Dominguez of Asociados 
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANGAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOOTED HNANCIAL YEAS ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

33. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

Financial position 

Assets 

Current assets 

Non-current assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities 

Current liabiLties 

Non-current liabhities 

Total liabilities 

Equity 

Issued capital 

Retained earnings 

Total equity 

Financial performance 

Loss for the year 

Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive income 

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation 
to the debts of its subsidiaries 

Corporate guarantee for its subsidiaries 

2010 

US$1000 

2009 

US$'oOO 

925 

30,000 

932 

30,000 

30,925 30,932 

1,329 

20 

1,077 

- 

1,349 1,077 

53,552 

(23,976) 

53,622 

(23,767) 

29,576 29,855 

2010 

US$'OOO 

2009 

US$'OOO 

(209) (23,978) 

(209) (23,978) 

2010 

US$1000 

2009 

US$'OOO 
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&DDIT IOAL 
STOCK EXCHANGE 
INF ORMATTON 
AS AT 30 AUGUST  2010 

Number of holders of equity securities 

Ordinary share capital 

74,100,000 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 490 individual shareholders. 

All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share. 

Distribution of holders of equity securitiess 

Category (size of Holdings) 

1 	 - 1,000 11 

1,001 	 - 5,000 373 

5,001 	 - 10,000 32 

10,001 	- 100,000 19 

100,001 and over 25 

490 	 - 

Holding less than a marketable parcel 
	

350 	 - 
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ADDITIOJNAL 
STOCK EXCHANGE 
INFORMATION 
AS AT 30 AUG UST 2010 

Substantial shareholders 

The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the GLG Corp Ltd register as at 31 August 2010 were: 

Estina Suan IHong Ang 	 54,560,003 	73.63% 	 - 	 - 

Mr Yoke Min Pang 	 8,304,751 	11.21% 	 - 	 - 

	

62,864,754 	84,84% 	 - 	 - 

Twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities 

Ghim Li Group Pte Ltd 

MrYoke Min Pang 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 

Ghim Li Capital 2 Pte Ltd 

Ghim Li Capital 1 Pte Ltd 

Ngui Choon Ming 

Mr Ah Yian Au 

Cowing Bros Limited 

Gwynvill Trading Pty Limited 

Dixson Trust Pty Limited 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 

Mr Robert Thomas Bishop 

Markess Corporate Trustee 

Mr Makram Hanna $ Mrs Rita Hanna 

Kam Hing Piece Works Ltd 

Ang Leong Aik 

Mr Gerald Rancis Pauley & Mr Michael James 

Chean Moy Seng 

Milton Yannis 

Mutual Appreciation Society Pty Limited 

Total 

50,116,003 67.63% 	- 	- 
5,504,751 7.43% 	 - 
4,304,900 5.81% 

2,222,000 3.00% 	- 	- 
2,222,000 3.00% 	- 	- 
1,798,000 2.43% 	- 	- 
1,225,356 1,65% 

830,903 1.12% 	- 	- 
450,000 0.61% 	- 	- 
330,000 0.45% 	 - 
329,953 0,45% 	- 	- 
260,000 0.35% 	- 	- 
250,000 0.34% 	- 	- 
210,000 0,28% 	 - 
206,010 0.28% 	- 
200,000 0.27% 	 - 
161,200 0.22% 	- 	- 
150,000 0.20% 	- 	- 
139,617 0.19% 	 - 
119,999 0.61% 	- 

71,030,692 95.86% 	- 	- 

OLD CORP 11D ANNUAL REPOR 1 2010 J) 



IIiIt 	 L/fti[) 	)t 	it 

II KMAJL ji 

H 	i 	iolli  'i 

lti 

ft 

ll 	 U ftU 

WOR  

'Hb Ul 	ilu' fth 	 Ikvi ri 

UOC L 

)ftL ( It 

	

ltIllft; 	',liti 

nu h1 ftA iI 

symmo 1611 lown H u 

(Cfl; 	(CIJ 	ft Ihiurii 	 i. 

at 

 Hi fttiUi 	II 	i' 

ii 	II 	i[\t7, 1q 

	

HL 	it 	''Yhft i3 	1liP0HiC 1  

1 IL, 	ftHI' iur 

ftH'I itJfftftk 1 

Ir(c)ftft, 'jift 	1FrFL 

IiDit h'n [iy IIu' 	tiU 	ch 

hi 

IILL -  ftO(Ot' 

( 	,h\I IF Fft=;IFFitILIFFftFih 	Fft4LII II 

rU 	iv ill r,U i'U IFF 	HIIUQ I!rWftnl 	u 	,IIl,' 	i 	ir'j 	r,HI ftH,HFt,U 	tr 	ti1 iiui ' 	Htrr 'j 	tftL,t 1 	I 	rtft i h 	U 	th 

HHIhUU1 'UH1 	 ii uti c 	 riru IFuH 	Hl trin ftT,I 	i 	cnr 	Lu 	II tiftini 	Uift ft' 	H 	it 	H 	iii UlIiiUUIiith iii i IIuiin ,  rnra 	ttftL UHH 	'Ii ii Ho 

L3U, "HUH iri 	ft ULIcHtH Il 	UI 	,IFrHt 	i 	ii iFiiLcr rr iu 	tlrt IF 	RtiirlIi'tUI' 	uruI: FL 	tiiti(IHtii it1 Hji.IIU 	IH 	' iIHrIUtUtfljH 	Ii 	iii, rHo> rH' 

ftcir,raioiii ,urirJF •U IhiiItLoH Iu Hr 	HLI ui r ft iiti'iru]uIt f  ti] 	it 	IkiIIFIL: , 	rr-, 	uui ii] wvdhj 	:u HltWft 	i' 	tUt 	I)ft',"ft p i 	rH 

ti iiiK'Ir irU'LfttoiIiI HIll' rl 	Hi' h]IH.H' FiLr H 	' 	ttftftutI 	ft]tOItit]LJ,li tUtu 	R>  lii, t 	t'lr Ill 	Iii 	FIHiti ft 	I 	 HUt I' 	IF lH t'ft till 	ftr ii II 1, rupJrrUc I' 	tHU 

cHJtH\HrHHUUI '  IOU'  Ii I[ 	It itpjt IL Hit III 	tp irHhL H tJIrrtIftUrHrIpipI]fti Itj  ,tt' itut Iii 



GLG CORP LTD 
Leve' b, 56 Hit Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

AU STRA UA 
www.ggcorpRdcom 	 1'(3,..p 


